QWEST EXHIBIT 1 09/07/01 Impasse Brief re Packet Switching, etc.

Table of Contents

L.	Scope Of This Report	J
Ι.	General Background	
Ш.	Disputed Issues And Recommendations Summary	
1.	Sharing Ownership of and Access to Splitters	
1. 2.	Tying Qwest Data Service and Voice Service	
3.	Line Sharing Over Fiber Loops	
4.	Provisioning Interval.	
	9	
	oop Unbundling	
1.	Subloop Access at MTE Terminals	
2. 3.	Requiring LSRs for Access to Premise Wiring at MTEs CLEC Facility Inventories	
3. 4.	Determining Ownership of Inside Wire	
4. 5.	Intervals	
5. 6.	Requirement for Qwest-Performed Jumpering at MTEs	
7.	Expanding Explicitly Available Subloop Elements	
	et Switching	
1.	Availability of Spare Copper Loops	
2.	Denial of DSLAM Collocation	
3.	ICB Pricing	
4.	Unbundling Conditions as a Prerequisite to Ordering	
5.	Line Card "Plug and Play"	.10
Dark	Fiber	.10
1.	Affiliate Obligations to Provide Access to Dark Fiber	.10
2.	Access to Dark Fiber in Joint Build Arrangements	.11
3.	Applying a Local Exchange Usage Requirement to Dark Fiber	
4.	Consistency With Technical Publications	
IV.	Line Sharing	.13
Back	ground – Line Sharing	.13
	es Resolved During This Workshop – Line Sharing	
1. 2.	Direct Connections Option	
2. 3.	Requiring Separate CLEC "MELD" Runs	
3. 4.	Allowing for Direct Connection in Common Areas	
4. 5.	Line Sharing Cost Elements	
5. 6.	Line Splitting	
υ.	LIIIC SUITUIIZ	.14

Iss	ues Remaining in Dispute – Line Sharing	15
1.	Ownership of and Access to Splitters	
2.	Tying Qwest Data Service and Voice Service	15
3.	Line Sharing Over Fiber Loops	
4.	Provisioning Interval	
V.	Subloop Unbundling	23
Back	ground – Subloop Unbundling	23
Issue	s Resolved During This Workshop – Subloop Unbundling	23
1.	Subloop Definition	
2.	Unbundling All Loop Types	24
3.	Spectrum Restrictions	24
4.	Subloop Ordering Information.	24
5.	Rights of Way	
6.	Dispute Resolution	
7.	Copper Feeder and Fiber Subloops	25
Issue	s Deferred – Subloop Unbundling	26
1.	Undefined Rates	
2.	Pricing for Overly Broad Definitions of Subloop Categories	26
Issue	s Remaining in Dispute – Subloop Unbundling	27
1.	Subloop Access at MTE Terminals	
2.	Requiring LSRs for Access to Premise Wiring at MTEs	
3.	CLEC Facility Inventories	
4.	Determining Ownership of Inside Wire	34
5.	Intervals	35
6.	Requirement for Qwest-Performed Jumpering at MTEs	
7.	Expanding Explicitly Available Subloop Elements	
VI.	Packet Switching	39
Back	ground – Packet Switching	39
Issue	d Resolved During This Workshop – Packet Switching	39
	Defining Packet Switching	39
2.	Defining the Condition Regarding No CLEC Collocation of DSLAMS	40
3.	Access at Any Feasible Point	
4.	Availability of CLEC-Specified Packet Switching Options	
5.	Limiting Access to Packet Management Systems	
6.	Separate Rate Elements for Packet Switching Components	
7.	Satisfying the Condition Relating to DSLAM Collocation Denial	
8.	Maintenance and Repair Responsibilities	41
	s Remaining in Dispute – Packet Switching	
1.	Availability of Spare Copper Loops	
2.	Denial of DSLAM Collocation	
3.	ICB Pricing	
4.	Unbundling Conditions as a Prerequisite to Ordering	
5.	Line Card "Plug and Play"	47

VII.	Dark Fiber	49
Bac	ckground – Dark Fiber	49
Issu	ues Resolved During This Workshop – Dark Fiber	49
_	Dark Fiber Forecasts	
2	2. Access to Dark Fiber Without Collocation	
3	3. Testing	50
4		
5		
6		
7	7. Dark Fiber at Collocation Build-Out Completion	
8	•	
Issu	ues Remaining in Dispute - Dark Fiber	52
	. Affiliate Obligations to Provide Access to Dark Fiber	
2		
3		
4		

I. Scope Of This Report

This report discusses the second group of issues that fall within the seven-state workshop process addressing Qwest's compliance with the Section 271 Checklist of the Telecommunications Act of 1996. This report covers the issues assigned to "Workshop Two" by he initial procedural orders, which are the first of a series of orders under which the workshop process has operated. This report addresses the following issues:

- Line Sharing
- Subloop Unbundling
- Packet Switching
- Dark Fiber

Transport issues were addressed in the same testimony and workshop days that included these four subjects. However, transport issues will be addressed in the upcoming report that addresses other Unbundled Network Element (UNE) issues. Line sharing, subloops, and packet switching are all UNEs. Dark fiber is better thought of as a medium that can comprise a loop or transport UNE. In general, these UNEs were not unbundled by the FCC in its *Local Competition First Report and Order*, but were unbundled later in the *UNE Remand Order* or the *Line Sharing Order*. They are here considered as a group of what are referred to as the "Emerging Services."

The Summary of Findings and Conclusions section of this report identifies the issues raised under each of these four subject areas, and briefly describes those deferred to other workshops or proceedings for resolution, and those remaining in dispute. For those issues remaining in dispute, the summary section describes the recommended resolution of the disagreements. The later sections of this report provide more detailed discussions of the issues, particularly those that remain in dispute. The Summary of Findings and Conclusions and the detailed sections use the same numbering for these disputed issues.

II. General Background

The purpose of this report is to assist the seven state Commissions (Iowa, Idaho, Utah, New Mexico, North Dakota, Montana, and Wyoming) in reaching a decision as to what recommendations to make to the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) on the question of whether Qwest should be granted the authority to provide in-region interLATA services. To be eligible to provide in-region interLATA service, Qwest must meet the competitive checklist and other requirements of Section 271 of the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (the Act). A Qwest May 4, 2000 filing encouraged the several state commissions to consider a multi-state process to jointly review track A (competition issues), various aspects of the 14-point competitive checklist, Section 272 (separate subsidiary issues), and public interest considerations. Iowa, Idaho, Utah, North Dakota and Montana joined together (with Wyoming joining in September 2000 and New Mexico thereafter) in a multi-state collaborative proceeding, and issued procedural orders to govern the conduct of joint workshops. The joint workshops provide a common forum for all participants in all the states involved to present, for individual consideration by the seven commissions, all issues related to Qwest's Section 271 compliance.

On November 20, 2000, Qwest filed the estimony of Karen A. Stewart. On or about December 20, 2000 the following intervenors filed testimony: the Wyoming Consumer Advocate Staff; AT&T Communications of the Mountain States, Inc., AT&T Communications of the Midwest, Inc. and TCG affiliates (AT&T); the Information Services Division, Department of Administration, State of Montana; Rhythms and New Edge (Joint Comments); and the New Mexico Advocacy Staff. Qwest filed Rebuttal Testimony on January 5, 2001, and an Open Issues Matrix On January 8, 2001 and a Supplemental Affidavit on January 9, 2001. AT&T filed a Statement Regarding Dark Spectrum on February 20, 2001.

We have adopted a general rule that requires Qwest to file, before briefing of the issues, a copy of SGAT language related to those issues. This "frozen SGAT language" is intended to reflect language on which there is general agreement among the parties and language proposed by Qwest to address issues or language on which there is not general agreement. The purpose of this language is to provide a reference base first for the participants' briefs and second for the commissions in reviewing this report. It is not intended to offer new language that has not before been seen or discussed in workshops, filings, or discussions among the parties.

Qwest filed the required language here on March 20, 2001. The language is set forth as an appendix to this report.

The following participants filed briefs on or about April 30, 2001: Qwest, AT&T, Sprint, Rhythms Links Inc., and the Wyoming Consumer Advocate Staff. Qwest's timely filing of the frozen SGAT language has provided the participants a fair opportunity to brief any disagreements with any language that Qwest may have added or changed since its original and rebuttal filings on the issues addressed by this report.

_

¹ Hereafter, the Frozen SGAT.

This report assumes that the SGAT language filed by Qwest on March 20, 2001 will remain in effect, except as commission acceptance of any of the findings and conclusions of this report may require such language to change. Therefore, to the extent that any further changes in SGAT language are proposed (e.g., as a result of agreements reached in similar workshops in other states) they must be separately filed and supported, in order that the commissions may consider any issues associated with such proposed language changes. Absent individual commission approval of any such proposed changes, the language set forth in the appendix hereto shall be considered to be the final language for purposes of any state SGAT review or consultation with the FCC under Section 271.

III. Disputed Issues And Recommendations Summary

The following summary addresses the deferred and disputed issues and it provides a brief description of how each issue was resolved.

Line Sharing

The parties raised and resolved prior to the briefs a total of six issues related to Line Sharing. Four issues remain to be resolved. Of these four issues, none requires an SGAT language change. However, Qwest pursues a policy (i.e., of not providing its data services to customers who switch to a CLEC for voice services) that imposes an inappropriate barrier to the development of voice competition. Qwest should not be deemed to be in compliance with this checklist item before it changes this policy. However, upon making an appropriate change, Qwest can be deemed to have met its burden of proof, subject to the completion and commission consideration of the results of any OSS testing that may relate to the item. The four issues and the proposed resolutions are summarized below.

1. Ownership of and Access to Splitters

Several CLECs testified that Qwest should be required to own splitters and to make them available to CLECs on a line-at-a-time basis. Existing FCC requirements provide no basis for obliging Qwest to provide splitters, nor has the evidence in this proceeding provided any basis for concluding that a requirement for such access is necessary or appropriate.

2. Tying Qwest Data Service and Voice Service

Qwest's policy is to disconnect its high-speed data service (called "Megabit") from a customer deciding to change to a CLEC for local voice service. Qwest's provision of voice and Megabit services to one of its end users over the same loop is the functional equivalent of line sharing. The threatened loss of Megabit service from Qwest will affect customer decisions about taking voice service from others. Qwest's refusal to continue to provide Megabit services in these circumstances imposes significant barriers to competition, particularly in an uncertain data service market. Qwest should not be considered to be in compliance with public interest requirements as long as it maintains a policy of denying its end users Qwest's own Megabit or xDSL services when it loses a voice customer to a CLEC through line sharing.

3. Line Sharing Over Fiber Loops

Several CLECs argued that the SGAT should require Qwest to provide line sharing over fiber loops. Qwest said that the FCC has merely recognized the possibility of line sharing over fiber portions of loops, but has not determined that it is feasible. Qwest agreed to change the SGAT to provide for fiber sharing when the technology becomes available and when Qwest is obliged to provide access to it by law. The record will not support a conclusion that there are other technologies and methods already proven to be feasible for providing line sharing over fiber facilities. The feasibility of the suggested "plug and play" option is at issue now before the FCC, which will presumably decide it upon much more than the scant evidence available here.

4. Provisioning Interval

Rhythms proposed that Qwest provision line-sharing in three days (compared with Qwest's proposed five days), with a future reduction to one day. Qwest argued that the FCC required ILECs to provision line sharing under intervals similar to those in which ILECs provide DSL service to their own end users. Qwest said that the five-day line-sharing interval to which it could commit here is significantly less than its 10-day retail DSL provisioning interval for its own end users. Qwest noted that the testimony would support CLEC needs for only a day or two (at most) on top of the Qwest's proposed interval of five days.

The correct standard here should be one that promotes parity with Qwest retail performance, recognizing that CLECs need an extra day or two to begin service to end users. Qwest's five-day interval will allow ample opportunity overall for CLECs to complete remaining work in time to provide end users with xDSL services within time frames that are competitive with what Qwest is now experiencing in serving its own retail customers. However, if Qwest succeeds in materially shortening the 10-day interval for its end users, then a failure to change the five-day line-sharing interval for CLECS could leave them disadvantaged. Therefore, the acceptance of Qwest's interval should be with the understanding that it should be revisited if Qwest's retail performance improves in the future.

Subloop Unbundling

The parties raised and resolved prior to the briefs a total of seven issues related to Subloop Unbundling. Two issues were deferred. Seven issues remained to be resolved by the facilitator. Of these seven issues, five require SGAT language changes, and two require no change. Qwest should not be deemed to be in compliance with this checklist item before it makes the changes necessary to deal with the five issues. However, upon making those changes, Qwest can be deemed to have met its burden of proof, subject to the completion and commission consideration of the results of any OSS testing that may relate to the item. The seven issues and the proposed resolutions are summarized below.

1. Subloop Access at MTE Terminals

AT&T argued that access to wiring on customer premises as a subloop element at the terminal block in multi-tenant environments (e.g., campus-type arrangements or high rises) should not require collocation. Qwest agreed to drop the SGAT requirement for collocation and Qwest performance of cross connections at MTE terminals on or in buildings, but would not do so for detached MTE terminals.

A rote application of collocation and CLEC access rules crafted primarily with reference to collocation in settings like central offices will not work well for access to subloops at remote locations. A more case-specific approach is needed to consider the service reliability, safety, work efficiency, cost, and engineering and operating practices involved in terminal access. Such a process would begin from an examination of the specific circumstances and let an emerging understanding of the particular situation at hand lead to what became a reasonably self evident set of necessary conditions, limits, and durations. The SGAT should be changed to allow advance solutions to be worked out for particular configuration types, provided that the focus is on the factors relevant to those particular types. Carriers should be able to request them in

advance and on a categorical basis where the applicable field circumstances are adequately defined.

2. Requiring LSRs for Access to Premise Wiring at MTEs

AT&T argued that the requirement to submit LSRs to gain access to such subloops represents an unreasonably complex and expensive means for facilities that have nominal cost. AT&T proposed that it merely specify monthly on an aggregate basis (by MTE terminal) the addresses of the MTEs where a CLEC has obtained access and the cables and pairs it is using there.

Qwest is entitled to bill for the wiring if it owns it; LSRs efficiently provide for billing regularity and completeness. LSRs also provide for the control necessary to support maintenance and repair, carrier switching, and customer-turnover needs. However, a brief delay in LSR processing by Qwest would expedite subloop ordering and lessen CLEC burdens in submitting information to Qwest. Therefore, Qwest should change the SGAT to preclude delay in CLEC access while it processes LSRs for MTE access to on-premise wiring. Qwest should hold those LSRs in suspense while it accumulates the information needed to identify CLEC terminations, then include that information in the LSR, and process it after CLECs proceed to gain access to the facilities involved.

3. CLEC Facility Inventories

The SGAT allows Qwest to inventory CLEC cable and pair terminations at MTEs. AT&T proposed instead a requirement that Qwest, at its expense, mark its owned or controlled on-premises wire and related facilities, tagging each cable pair currently being used to serve an end user. Qwest did not propose any reason for inventories other than to provide information necessary for LSRs. The inventories, as discussed under the immediately preceding issue, may be performed during the LSR suspense period. For the reasons discussed under the same issue, AT&T's alternate facility identification proposal should not be adopted.

4. Determining Ownership of Inside Wire

The on-premise wire at MTEs could be owned by Qwest, by the MTE owner, or by the occupants. Only in the former case is a CLEC required to get access to it from Qwest. Absent an owner's self-declaration of ownership, AT&T would allow Qwest 10 days to determine ownership, but would limit the response period to one day if another CLEC had already sought Qwest ownership information at the same MTE. It is reasonable to place upon Qwest the burden of determining facility ownership before it charges for those facilities. Therefore, absent bad faith by CLECs in MTE owner assertions of on-premise wire ownership, Qwest should also be responsible for costs beyond reasonable and minimal costs for examination of its records.

Determining ownership should take only a nominal amount of time after the issue has already been raised by another CLEC at the same MTE. Moreover, where a CLEC can provide Qwest with a written statement setting forth the basis for a claim that the MTE owner also owns the onpremises wiring, the period should be reduced. The provision of such information will provide Qwest with information that should help it to narrow the activities necessary to make a reasonable investigation of ownership.

5. Intervals

In the event of non-acceptance of its previous arguments about the FCP process, the determination of on-premises wire ownership, and the inventorying of circuit terminations, AT&T asked that the longest interval for determining ownership and inventorying be not greater than 15 days. FCP requirements have been eliminated for on-premises wiring access in a number of MTE situations; the LSR requirements have been eased; the need for a facility inventory is no longer a prerequisite to LSR issuance; and much of AT&T's argument regarding facility inventorying has been accepted. There is therefore no reason to consider added relief on the issue of intervals.

6. Requirement for Qwest-Performed Jumpering at MTEs

AT&T argued against the requirement that Qwest run the jumpers from subloop elements. Qwest said that, because the segregation of CLEC and Qwest equipment was not realistic at FDIs, allowing only Qwest technicians to have access to the FDIs for jumpering was reasonable.² The resolution of the first unresolved subloop issue, *Subloop Access at MTE Terminals*, recommended a case-by-case analysis of the needs and circumstances associated with unique and varying outside plant configurations and conditions. That consideration includes issues associated with jumpering. The record here does not support allowing CLECs to perform such work outside the context of in- or on-building MTE terminals. However, CLECs can presently request such authority as described under the first issue, and it should be granted to them where its propriety can be supported by showings made in the context of specific requests.

7. Expanding Explicitly Available Subloop Elements

AT&T argued that the SGAT must address the full range of subloop elements and access points contemplated by the FCC, which AT&T listed as including a large number of specific types and access points. Qwest responded that the "very limited" demand for subloops to date and the very large number of potential subloop access points made it impractical to develop standard offerings for more than the most likely expected circumstances. Qwest's brief offered the Special Request Process for additional subloop offerings for which there is not substantial "reasonably foreseeable demand."

Qwest's loop plant comprises a wide range of configurations and circumstances. It is not appropriate to expect Qwest to undertake the effort to design standard offerings for every conceivable case, without reference to potential demand for them. Qwest's offering of the special request process provides an adequate mechanism for considering such offerings when they become more tangible. We can address any potential inefficiency in the Special Request Process at the upcoming workshop on general SGAT terms and conditions.

² The subject of making connections at MTEs occasioned much testimony at the workshop. Qwest agreed to eliminate a distinction that it had been making between enclosed and open terminals that were located in buildings. Qwest agreed to allow CLECs to make connections and to eliminate the requirement of an FCP in either type of terminal.

Packet Switching

The parties raised and resolved prior to the briefs a total of seven issues related to Packet Switching. Five issues remained to be resolved by the facilitator. Of these five issues, one requires SGAT language changes; four require no change; assuming that Qwest has made substantial progress in developing prices for packet switching in the near future. Qwest should not be deemed to be in compliance with this checklist item before it makes the changes necessary to deal with the five issues. However, upon making those changes, Qwest can be deemed to have met its burden of proof, subject to the completion and commission consideration of the results of any OSS testing that may relate to the item. The five issues and the proposed resolutions are summarized below.

Packet switching is an alternative that allows CLECs to provide high-speed data services where suitable alternatives are not available, such as copper loops to the central office or the ability to collocate CLEC DSLAMs remotely. CLECs have said that Qwest's increasing use of DLC has magnified CLEC difficulties in providing competitive DSL services, because there are fewer continuous copper loops connecting end users with Qwest central offices. CLECs either need appropriate electronics on the DLC system, room to remotely deploy a DSLAM that can be connected to the end user's copper subloop, or a continuous, suitable (which generally means of not too long a physical distance) copper loop between the end user and the Qwest central office (a "home run" copper loop).

1. Availability of Spare Copper Loops

Several CLECs argued that access to home-run-copper loops will still leave them at a significant disadvantage, when Qwest can transfer signals at much higher rates in areas where it has remotely deployed its DSLAMs to shorten the copper portion of its connection with end users. CLECs, according to AT&T, need to be able to: (a) collocate their DSLAMs at the same place that Qwest has done so, or (b) gain access to Qwest's packet switching as a UNE, in order to be able to deliver service at the same level of quality. The SGAT already says that the test for determining necessary loop capability is the services the CLEC wishes to offer (including the data transfer rate). If a CLEC should wish to offer xDSL services that match all the characteristics of the service that Qwest is providing, then Qwest cannot meet its obligations by providing a copper loop that can only provide some of level service less than that, even if the loop could provide some defined level of DSL service.

AT&T also argued that it should not have to take copper loops in lieu of securing access to unbundled packet switching in cases where it seeks to serve more customers than there are appropriate copper loops. However, AT&T presented no evidence to support a conclusion that satisfaction of its actual orders for services through a combination of copper loops and unbundled packet switching in those cases is discriminatory, or that it would impede CLEC ability to compete for customers.

2. Denial of DSLAM Collocation

The ability to collocate CLEC DSLAMs at remote Qwest terminals would overcome the problem of a lack of suitable "home run" copper loops. However, AT&T stated that there was little chance that remote collocation of DSLAMs would give CLECs a "practical competitive

alternative," because too many circumstances would have to converge to make this alternative commonly available. AT&T also said that, because remote terminals and other Qwest field locations where CLECs could remotely deploy DSLAMS serve only limited numbers of customers, CLECs would have great difficulty in gaining the economies of scale necessary to justify such deployment. Therefore, AT&T sought to expand the standard for gaining access to unbundled packet switching from an actual denial of collocation to the economic infeasibility of collocation.

AT&T's proposal depends upon an assumption that there is a substantial difference in the economics of DLSAM deployment between CLECs and Qwest. However, apart from broad claims that were not supported by any specific analysis or quantification, there is nothing in the record to support this assumption. The failure to support those claims with evidence is particularly compelling in a case where, as here, a number of CLECs want to add an entirely new requirement to those already deemed appropriate by the FCC-- a requirement that would essentially rewrite completely the FCC's standard. Qwest's position on this FCC-established condition is appropriate.

3. *ICB Pricing*

AT&T commented that Qwest has presented no testimony about its prices or provisioning practices for unbundled packet switching. AT&T argued that it was not sufficient to offer ICB pricing. Qwest's brief noted that the company believes it will have finished its development of prices before it makes its Section 271 filing with the FCC. In any event, Qwest argued that its ICB approach would be an adequate interim solution for purposes of Section 271. There is no evidence of record to support a conclusion that price methods, other than ICBs, can now be supported. It is fairly clear that Qwest agrees conceptually that ICB pricing will not remain as the general rule after it completes its pending price development effort. It would prove to be of substantial benefit to complete that effort in time for state commission review as soon as possible, in order to support a conclusion about whether Qwest's final proposed pricing comports with the requirements of the Act.

4. *Unbundling Conditions as a Prerequisite to Ordering*

AT&T argued that CLECs would suffer competitive disadvantage under a 90-day collocation process, after which the CLEC would learn that collocation will be denied. Only after that denial would the CLEC be able to order packet switching as a UNE. AT&T argued that this long interval would allow Qwest to market its own advanced services, and to provide them on a timelier basis. AT&T sought a change that would: (a) permit simultaneous processing of DSLAM collocation and packet switching UNE requests and (b) set an interval of 10 days or less for Qwest to reject DSLAM collocation requests. Qwest agreed to streamline the processes involved in unbundling packet switching by providing information that would help CLECs to identify in advance those cases where there was likely to be insufficient space for CLECs to collocate DSLAMs remotely.

Qwest's streamlining activities should provide substantially faster notice than AT&T had anticipated. Thus, the introduction of a 10-day collocation denial notice period does not appear to be warranted. However, no evidence or argument was presented to show any necessity for packet

switching service requests to await DSLAM collocation denials. Qwest should therefore be required to respond to DSLAM collocation orders and packet switching orders in parallel.

5. Line Card "Plug and Play"

Sprint argued for the right to allow CLECs to place their line cards into Qwest's DSLAM (an option known as "plug and play"). Sprint noted that this option would obviate the need for the "crushing expense of adjacent collocation at remote terminals." Other CLECs made similar arguments. The CLEC concern about extraordinarily long home-run copper loops was addressed under the issue heading of *Availability of Spare Copper Loops* above. That resolution substantially mitigates a claim of further need here. Moreover, as Qwest notes, the technical feasibility of the plug and play option is now being addressed at the FCC. Particularly given the pendency of the FCC proceedings, there is very little evidence on this record to support the conclusion that technical feasibility has been established. Finally, as Qwest also noted, allowing the plug and play option would in effect eviscerate the current FCC standard.

Dark Fiber

The parties raised and resolved prior to the briefs a total of eight issues related to Packet Switching. Four issues remained to be resolved by the facilitator. Of these four issues, two require SGAT language changes; two require no change. Qwest should not be deemed to be in compliance with this checklist item before it makes the changes necessary to deal with the four issues. However, upon making those changes, Qwest can be deemed to have met its burden of proof, subject to the completion and commission consideration of the results of any OSS testing that may relate to the item. The four issues and the proposed resolutions are summarized below.

1. Affiliate Obligations to Provide Access to Dark Fiber

AT&T contended that Qwest should be required to make the in-region dark fiber of affiliates available to CLECs, because those affiliates are successors and assigns under Section 251(h) of the Act. In response, Qwest contended that Qwest Corporation is the only U S WEST Communications Inc. successor that provides local telecommunications services in the seven-state region; therefore, QCI's affiliates do not meet the "successor or assign" requirements of the Act. Qwest also argued that Section 251(c) does not extend to an ILEC's long-distance operations or network

The record here contains no evidence that the Qwest corporate structure has been developed or is being used to deny access to dark fiber in cases where it would, absent such structure, be required to be made available. However, a particularly interesting feature of dark fiber in this situation is that it represents a form of in-place inventory. If Qwest decided, for example, to acquire a right to use such fiber from a third party when and as needed, Qwest certainly could not deny similar access to a CLEC merely on the basis that the inventory was technically owned by a third party. The same general standard should apply to a second-party arrangement (i.e., a lease or right-to-use agreement with an affiliate) as would apply to a third-party arrangement (e.g., Qwest rights to dark fiber that arise under a lease with a financial institution or under a right of use agreement with a customer). The standard should be that if Qwest has access rights for itself, it should not refuse to use them to provide access rights for CLECs.

Accordingly, the SGAT should be changed to provide that Qwest is required to offer access not only to that which it owns directly, but to all dark fiber to which it has a right to access under agreements with any other party, affiliated or not. Moreover, the test should not be based upon the type of form of such agreement, but rather upon the nature and degree of the access that it provides to Qwest.

2. Access to Dark Fiber in Joint Build Arrangements

AT&T sought to allow CLECs to lease dark fiber that exists in "joint build arrangements" with third parties (e.g., other local, adjoining telephone companies), under which Qwest can use the other party's conduit, innerduct, or fiber to transport telecommunications traffic. Qwest testified that it would make available dark fiber in joint build arrangements up to Qwest's side of the meet point, but refused to permit CLECs to obtain access to any rights Qwest may have to the use of the "third party facilities."

The standard to which Qwest should be held here is similar to that set forth in the proposed resolution of the immediately preceding issue. The primary consideration is whether the agreement with the third party gives Qwest, with respect to the fiber owned by the third party, sufficient access rights to make it analogous to directly owned facilities that "carriers keep dormant but ready for service" and that are "in place and easily called into service." The language set forth in the proposed resolution of the immediately preceding issue accommodates this definition. There should also be a means for holding Qwest to a good-faith standard in bargaining away its rights to allow CLEC access in such situations.

3. Applying a Local Exchange Usage Requirement to Dark Fiber

AT&T objected to the application to dark fiber of the same local usage test that the FCC issued with regard to Enhanced Extended Links ("EELs"). AT&T also asserted that the requirement could not be implemented, because the FCC test cannot be applied to dark fiber.

The *UNE Remand Order* says that the loop element can consist of dark fiber, and the transport element can also consist of dark fiber. Paragraph 480 says that EELs are not a separate UNE, but consist of a loop connected to dedicated transport. Thus, when a CLEC secures access to dark fiber that provides the functionality of a loop that is connected to dedicated transport, it secures an EEL, which is a combined loop and transport element. A loop and transport combination that includes dark fiber remains a loop-transport combination. The logic behind the FCC's concern about access charges is in no way diminished because the facilities providing the combination were unlit before a CLEC gained access to them.

4. Consistency With Technical Publications

AT&T noted that SGAT Section 9.7.2.18 incorporated by reference Technical Publication 77383. AT&T determined that the publication's terms were inconsistent with the commitments Qwest has made in the language of the SGAT. According to AT&T, Qwest promised to provide a draft of the modifications to language that made it compliant with the SGAT by March 1, 2001. AT&T indicated that Qwest failed to provide the required language. Qwest in its brief did not identify Section 9.7.2.18 as being in dispute. This issue can be addressed, if the parties have not already resolved it by then, in the upcoming workshop on general SGAT terms and conditions.

We have already adopted the general proposition that the hierarchy among the SGAT, technical publications, operations guidelines and procedures, and the other documents that it will take to make the Qwest/CLEC relationship operate effectively can best be addressed in a general fashion.

IV. Line Sharing

Background - Line Sharing

Line sharing refers to the unbundling of the high-frequency portion of the local loop. Such sharing permits a CLEC to provide xDSL services over the high frequency portion of the loop, while the ILEC continues to provide voice service over the low frequency portion of that same loop. The related concept of line splitting, which will be addressed in the next report, refers to the situation where two different CLECs provide the voice and data services over the same loop, which has been acquired as a UNE from the ILEC. Line sharing operates through the use of splitters at the customer premises and at a central office or remote terminal.

The FCC required unbundled access to the loop's high frequency portion in its *Line Sharing Order*.³ The FCC said:

- (1) The high frequency portion of the loop network element is defined as the frequency range above the voiceband on a copper loop facility that is being used to carry analog circuit-switched voiceband transmissions.
- (2) An incumbent LEC shall provide nondiscriminatory access in accordance with section 51.311 of these rules and section 251(c)(3) of the Act to the high frequency portion of a loop to any requesting telecommunications carrier for the provision of a telecommunications service conforming with section 51.230 of these rules.
- (3) An incumbent LEC shall only provide a requesting carrier with access to the high frequency portion of the loop if the incumbent LEC is providing, and continues to provide, analog circuit-switched voiceband services on the particular loop for which the requesting carrier seeks access.

Issues Resolved During This Workshop – Line Sharing

1. Collocating DSLAMs

AT&T requested the ability to collocate DSLAM equipment on Qwest premises.⁴ Qwest agreed to allow such collocation in central office and remote locations, subject to space availability. Qwest noted that SGAT Section 8.1.2. has been changed to allow the collocation of DSLAMs.⁵ Therefore, this issue can be considered closed.

³ *Third Interconnection Order*, CC Docket No. 98-147, and Fourth Report and Order, CC Docket No. 96-98, FCC 99-355 (December 9, 1999) (Line Sharing Order).

⁴ AT&T's Comments for the Multistate Workshop II (AT&T Comments) at page 29.

⁵ Emerging Services Rebuttal Testimony on Line Sharing, Sub Loop Unbundling, Dark Fiber, Packet Switching and Checklist Item 5 of Karen A. Stewart Qwest Corporation, January 5, 2001(Stewart Rebuttal), at page 7.

2. Direct Connections Option

AT&T argued that the SGAT Section 9.4.2.2.4.2. requirement for CLECs to trunk to every module on the COSMIC frame or MDF (a point, generally at the central office, where loops are terminated, beyond which signals are carried to switching, transport, or CLEC collocation facilities, e.g.) would add unnecessary expense and exhaust COSMIC capacity. AT&T asked Qwest to allow CLECs a direct connections option that would enable them to provision cables to every other or every third module on the COSMIC/MDF.⁶ Qwest agreed to allow to such connection at every other COSMIC/MDF line module in SGAT Section 8.3.1.11.2.3.⁷ Therefore, this issue can be considered closed.

3. Requiring Separate CLEC "MELD" Runs

A Mechanized Engineering and Layout for Distributing Frame ("MELD") run provides Qwest information for making connections on the COSMIC efficiently. Because separate runs are expensive and not necessary just for addressing CLEC connections, AT&T requested that Qwest input CLEC needs into runs Qwest already planned for itself.⁸ Qwest changes to SGAT Section 8.3.1.11.2.3 during the Collocation workshop addressed AT&T's concerns.⁹ Therefore, this issue can be considered closed.

4. Allowing for Direct Connection in Common Areas

AT&T requested that the ICDF frame requirement be eliminated in common areas, which would allow direct connection between the COSMIC/MDF and a CLEC.¹⁰ Qwest agreed and it modified the SGAT accordingly.¹¹ Therefore, this issue can be considered closed.

5. Line Sharing Cost Elements

AT&T noted that it did not agree with rate elements and prices included in the SGAT. The parties agreed that such issues should be considered in a cost docket.¹²

6. Line Splitting

Line sharing contemplates that Qwest will continue to provide voice service over the same circuit that a CLEC uses to provide the same end user with data services. Line splitting differs in that it contemplates that one CLEC will provide the voice services, while another will provide the data services. AT&T argued that the SGAT inappropriately failed to require Qwest to provide the line splitting required by the FCC.¹³ This issue was deferred to the subsequent workshop in anticipation of the presentation of a Qwest proposal and SGAT language addressing line splitting. Line splitting will therefore be addressed in the next report.

_

⁶ AT&T Comments at page 33.

⁷ Simpson Rebuttal at page 7.

⁸ AT&T Comments at page 33.

⁹ Simpson Rebuttal at page 8.

¹⁰ AT&T Comments at page 33.

¹¹ Simpson Rebuttal at page 8.

¹² AT&T Comments at page 34 and Simpson Rebuttal at page 8.

¹³ AT&T Comments at page 34.

Issues Remaining in Dispute – Line Sharing

1. Ownership of and Access to Splitters

AT&T testified that Qwest should be required to own splitters and to make them available to CLECs on a line-at-a-time basis, citing technical and practical considerations. A Rhythms and New Edge commented that Qwest should be required to purchase and maintain splitters, at the option of CLECs. They defended this approach by saying that the splitter should be placed close to the Qwest distribution frame, in order to minimize cable length, maximize the use of existing tie cables, make the most efficient use of central office space, and provide economies through bulk purchases. 15

Qwest said that CLEC ownership of the POTS splitters necessary for line sharing was the method provided for in the original FCC *Line Sharing Order*. Qwest also said that the FCC has upheld the positions that ILECs need not provide access to their splitters in the SWBT 271 Order. Paragraph 327 of that order stated that, "We [the FCC] did not identify any circumstances in which the splitter would be treated as part of the loop." AT&T did not brief this issue.

Proposed Issue Resolution: It is very clear that existing FCC requirements provide no basis for obliging Qwest to provide splitters and to make them available to CLECs on a line-at-a-time basis. Neither has the evidence in this proceeding provided any basis for concluding that a requirement for such access is necessary or appropriate. There is no evidence to support a conclusion that CLEC installation of splitters would impose distance, cable length, or central-office space problems. SGAT Section 9.4.2.3.1 allows for the location of CLEC splitters in common areas. Qwest will maintain common-area splitters.¹⁷

That CLECs could gain greater economies if Qwest combined CLEC and its own splitter needs for purchasing and maintenance purposes is not the issue. The same is true for virtually every other item of equipment used by both ILECs and CLECs, from trucks to switches. Nevertheless, the SGAT provides for Qwest to act as purchasing agent for CLECs in securing splitters. Therefore, there is not a basis for concluding that Qwest fails to meet checklist requirements by declining to provide splitters at its central offices for use by CLECs in support of line sharing.

2. Tying Owest Data Service and Voice Service

AT&T argued that Qwest has made a policy decision to disconnect Megabit service from a customer deciding to change to a CLEC for local voice service over the same loop. 18 Citing the "hundreds of thousands" of Qwest Megabit service customers, AT&T argued that Qwest's decision to "walk away" from an established, profitable business reflects an intention to create entry barriers for CLECs seeking to provide voice services. The argument was that Qwest retail

¹⁷ Direct Testimony of Karen A. Stewart on Behalf of Qwest Corporation Re: Emerging Services and Checklist Item 5 (Stewart Direct) at page 15.

-

¹⁴ AT&T Comments at page 35.

¹⁵ Joint Initial Comments of Rhythms Links, Inc. and New Edge Networks Regarding Emerging Services (Comments of Rhythms and New Edge), at pages 12 and 13.

¹⁶ Qwest Brief at page 25.

¹⁸ February 27, 2001 Transcript at pages 79 through 85.

customers will be less likely to abandon Qwest's voice services, if doing so would also require them to abandon the high-speed data services that they secure from Qwest through Megabit.

Qwest acknowledged that is provision of voice and Megabit services to one of its end users over the same loop is the functional equivalent of line sharing. Qwest cited paragraph 26 of the *Line Sharing Reconsideration Order* as holding that an ILEC is not required to provide xDSL service when it is no longer the voice provider. Qwest said that the FCC also held in its Texas 271 decision that an ILEC has no obligation to provide UNE-P Combinations with xDSL data service:

Under our rules, the incumbent LEC has no obligation to provide xDSL service over this UNE-P carrier loop. In the Line Sharing Order, the Commission unbundled the high frequency portion of the loop when the incumbent LEC provides voice service, but did not unbundle the low frequency portion of the loop and did not obligate incumbent LECs to provide xDSL service under the circumstances AT&T describes. Furthermore, as described above, the UNE-P carrier has the right to engage in line splitting on its loop. As a result, a UNE-P carrier can compete with SWBT's combined voice and data offering on the same loop by providing a customer with line splitting voice and data service over the UNE-P in the same manner. In sum, we do not find this conduct discriminatory.

Qwest argued that its practice was not a barrier to entry because CLECs could offer their own xDSL service or partner with another carrier who does.¹⁹

AT&T responded by saying that the FCC did not reject AT&T's argument in this regard, but merely found that Qwest's policy did not violate the *Line Sharing Order*.²⁰ In fact, AT&T noted, the FCC left explicitly open the question of the impact of ILEC denials of xDSL service when it loses voice service over the same line to a CLEC.²¹

To the extent that AT&T believes that specific incumbent behavior constrains competition in a manner inconsistent with the Commission's rules and/or the Act itself, we encourage AT&T to pursue enforcement action.

Proposed Issue Resolution: This issue has its roots in the nature of the FCC's consideration of line sharing. Specifically, it considered and approved the unbundling of the high frequency portion of loops to expand competition for data services. It did not apparently consider, at least so far, the question of unbundling the low frequency portion to promote competition for voice services. This is essentially all that the FCC said in the quoted portions of the Texas decision. It has reserved for another day the question of whether actions such as Qwest takes in these circumstances impermissibly constrain competition. The FCC has decided that it will not exercise its responsibility to set new general policies in narrow proceedings, like the Texas 271 case cited by Qwest.

-

¹⁹ Owest Brief at page 21.

²⁰ AT&T Brief at pages 24 and 25.

²¹ Line Sharing Reconsideration Order at \P 26.

However, nowhere has the FCC stated that its own failure yet to declare a rule of general applicability should serve as a bar to state commission consultation on the very same issues that such a policy would address. Had it done so, the FCC would turn the state commission consultative process into merely a fact finding exercise to determine whether its existing policies of general applicability across the country, exactly as it has expressed them, are being carried out in the states where Section 271 compliance is being sought. Clearly, the states, as the Congress and the FCC have confirmed on many occasions, anticipate a much more robust role for state commissions.

Insofar as this question is concerned, that role requires a determination of the competitive impacts of Qwest's decision to withdraw from customers its Megabit service where a CLEC uses sharing to provide xDSL services across a loop's high frequency portion. Qwest's policy not to continue to offer its Megabit services when a CLEC captures a customer for voice services gives grounds for concern.

The existence of this concern in the current marketplace for xDSL services makes appropriate an examination into the reasons why Qwest takes this approach. The record disclosed that there are no technical feasibility issues; in fact, when Qwest provides both voice and megabit service over the same loop to the same end user, it concedes that it is, for practical purposes, engaging in line sharing. Qwest raised no billing, customer perception or satisfaction, or other substantial business reasons either. AT&T claimed that Megabit service was profitable and was growing at a very fast rate on Qwest's system. Qwest did not refute this claim either at a general or specific, detailed level. The only reason Qwest offered at all in defense of its policy was that it had not undertaken the actions necessary to isolate Megabit service as a stand-alone Qwest retail offering.

The most logical conclusion to be drawn from the evidence of record is that Qwest's refusal to continue to provide Megabit services in these circumstances:

- More than likely is the result of an intention by Qwest to seek to retain voice service by creating consequences to switching voice services that Megabit customers are particularly likely to see as adverse in the current marketplace
- Certainly has the effect of inhibiting competition for voice services (for customers now taking or likely to take Megabit services), whatever Qwest's underlying intention may be.

Qwest's discussion of antitrust principles may be interesting as general background, but it is not determinative here. The Telecommunications Act of 1996 surely does not set as a standard of performance any ILEC conduct that would withstand antitrust scrutiny. ILECs were already subject to that standard. What is necessary to open markets and to promote competition in an industry whose infrastructure is dominated by ILECs is much more to the point. When viewed against this standard, Qwest should not be considered to be in compliance with public interest requirements as long as it maintains a policy of denying its end users Qwest's own Megabit or xDSL services when it loses a voice customer to a CLEC through line sharing.

3. *Line Sharing Over Fiber Loops*

AT&T argued that, in contravention of the *Line Sharing Reconsideration Order* at ¶ 10 through 13, Owest was not obliged by its SGAT to provide line sharing over fiber loops. Rhythms considers the obligation to provide line sharing over the fiber portion of loops to be clear, citing paragraph 10 of the FCC's *Line-Sharing Reconsideration Order*:

We clarify that the requirement to provide line-sharing applies to the entire loop even where the incumbent has deployed fiber in the loop (e.g. where the loop is served by a remote terminal).

Rhythms and New Edge commented that Qwest bears the burden of demonstrating that it is not technically feasible to unbundle loops, including cases where DLC has introduced fiber into the loop.²² Rhythms also noted that the refusal of Owest to offer such line sharing in an appropriate manner would make circumstances more difficult for competitors as IDLC installations increased the amount of fiber in the loop portion of Qwest's network.²³ Rhythms and New Edge commented that allowing CLECs to place line cards²⁴ in remotely deployed Qwest equipment would allow line sharing. Under this scenario, Qwest could make line sharing available by providing:

- An xDSL copper loop from the NID to the customer side of the Owest remote terminal
- Electronics at the remote terminal to derive the bandwidth necessary
- Transport over the Owest feeder network from the remote terminal back to the central office.

Owest argued that there was no apparent dispute over the fact that line sharing over digital loop carrier and fiber would cause garbled signals. Its witness testified that it was not technically feasible to line share, except on a copper loop.²⁵ Qwest said that the FCC required line sharing only over the copper portion of the loop. Owest argued that it does what the FCC has required at paragraph 12 of the *Line Sharing Order*, which provides that:

Where a competitive LEC has collocated a DSLAM at the remote terminal, an incumbent LEC must enable the competitive LEC to transmit its data traffic from the remote terminal to the central office. The incumbent LEC can do this, at a minimum, by leasing access to the dark fiber element or be leasing access to the subloop element.

Beyond that, Owest said, the FCC has merely recognized the possibility of line sharing over fiber portions of loops, which is demonstrated by the issuance of two notices of proposed rulemakings to look at technical feasibility.²⁶

²³ Rhythms Brief at pages 7 and 8.

²² Comments of Rhythms and New Edge at page 5.

²⁴ The comments (at page 10) said that this "plug and play" option would allow the CLEC line card to perform the functions of the DSLAM.
²⁵ February 27, 2001 Transcript at pages 90 and 91.

²⁶ Owest Brief at page 17.

Qwest did offer language that partially addressed this issue, by proposing a new SGAT Section 9.4.1.1:²⁷

To the extent additional line sharing technologies and transport mechanisms are identified, and Qwest has deployed such technology for its own use, and Qwest is obligated by law to provide access to such technology, Qwest will allow CLECs to line share in that same manner, provided, however, that the rates, terms and conditions for line sharing may need to be amended in order to provide such access.

Qwest argued that the Illinois Commerce Commission order cited by CLECs did not in fact order Ameritech to provide line sharing over fiber, but rather directed Ameritech to provide as UNEs "Lit Fiber Subloops" and the "High Frequency Portion of copper subloops." That is, according to Qwest, not only different from line sharing over fiber loops, but also exactly what Qwest does offer.

Proposed Issue Resolution: There is no evidence of record that would support a conclusion that Qwest fails to provide any technically feasible form of line sharing over fiber. There were CLEC arguments about whether the SGAT acknowledged the need to address line sharing over fiber loops. The language of Section 9.4.1.1 does so. The only argument against its general propriety would be that it fails to deal on a routine basis with other technologies and methods already proven to be feasible for providing line sharing over fiber facilities. The record will not support a conclusion that there are such methods or technologies. The only one specifically cited in comments and testimony was the "plug and play" option addressed in the comments of Rhythms and New Edge. The feasibility of this method is at issue now before the FCC, which will presumably decide it upon much more than the scant evidence available here. A decision on that option should therefore come from the FCC and, when it does, the language of SGAT Section 9.4.1.1 is already expansive enough to address the option, should it prove a feasible and effective one.

4. Provisioning Interval

Rhythms proposed that Qwest provision line-sharing in three days, and that Qwest further reduce the interval to one day over time, citing an Illinois Commerce Commission order establishing such an interval in an Ameritech docket. Rhythms said that Qwest failed to respond to CLEC evidence that Qwest need only perform a lift-and-lay at the central office in order to provide line sharing. Rhythms also cited testimony from Qwest in support of the proposition that no dispatch

-

²⁷ Owest Brief at page 18.

²⁸ Arbitration Decision on Rehearing, Covad Communications Company Petition for Arbitration pursuant to Section 252(b) of the Telecommunications Act of 1996 to Establish an Amendment for Line Sharing to the Interconnection Agreement with Illinois Bell Telephone Company d/b/a Ameritech Illinois, and for an Expedited Arbitration Award on Certain Core Issues; Rhythms Links, Inc. Petition for Arbitration pursuant to Section 252(b) of the Telecommunications Act of 1996 to Establish an Amendment for Line Sharing to the Interconnection Agreement with Illinois Bell Telephone Company d/b/a Ameritech Illinois, and for an Expedited Arbitration Award on Certain Core Issues, Docket Nos. 00-312/00-313 (consol.), 2001 Ill. PUC LEXIS 205 (February 15, 2001), at pages 94 and 95.

of technicians would be required for line sharing.²⁹ Rhythms argued that the results that Qwest submitted for its retail DSL installations³⁰ did not support Qwest's claim that it took Qwest 10 days (averaging dispatch and no dispatch orders, with no dispatch averaging 70 percent of the total) on the retail side. Rhythms also said that the paragraph 174 of the Line Sharing Order makes it clear that provisioning intervals for xDSL capable loops should be determinative, not parity with the delivery of retail xDSL service.³¹

Rhythms also noted that the FCC made a finding in paragraph 175 of the Line Sharing Order that would actually support significantly shorter intervals where no dispatch is required. Specifically, the FCC observed that intervals should be much shorter where the ILEC was already providing the equivalent of line sharing for itself (i.e., already providing data services in addition to voice services to the same customer over the same facilities). Rhythms took this comment as reflecting an FCC assumption that dispatch was generally necessary where the ILEC was not already providing data services at a time when a CLEC requested line sharing. The Owest data supported an inference of a 30 percent dispatch rate (very generously at that, according to Rhythms).³² Rhythms closed by inviting attention to the Act's Section 706 admonition to each state commission to "encourage the deployment on a reasonable and timely basis of advanced telecommunications capability to all Americans."

Qwest argued that the FCC required ILECs to provision line sharing under intervals similar to those in which ILECs provide DSL service to their own end users. Owest noted that the basis upon which the FCC decided to unbundle line sharing as a network element was its concern that failure to do so would inhibit the ability of CLECs to offer the equivalent of a service that ILECs were offering to their retail customers.³³ Qwest said that the five-day line-sharing interval to which it would commit here is significantly less than what it was offering to its own retail customers. Owest argued that provisioning interval parity with retail operations is the clear standard under the *Line Sharing Order*, which held that:³⁴

As a general matter, the nondiscrimination obligation requires incumbent LECs to provide to requesting carriers access to the high frequency portion of the loop that is equal to that access the incumbent provides to itself for retail DSL service its customers or its affiliates, in terms of quality, accuracy and timeliness. Thus, we encourage states to require, in arbitration proceedings, incumbent LECs to fulfill requests for line sharing within the same interval the incumbent provisions

32 Rhythms Brief at page 6.

²⁹ Rhythms Brief at pages 3 and 4, citing *In re Covad Communications & Rhythms Links Inc. Petition for* Arbitration to Establish An Amendment for Line Sharing to the Interconnection Agreement with Illinois Bell Telephone Company, No. 00-0312 et al., Arbitration Decision (August 17, 2000) (Illinois Arb. Order), at pp. 24-27; rehearing granted on other grounds on February 15, 2001(Arbitration Decision on Rehearing).

³⁰ At the request of the facilitator, without objection from the participants, and with the option (unexercised as it turned out) for the participants to raise questions about the submission.

³¹ Rhythms Brief at pages 4 and 5.

³³ Third Report and Order in CC Docket No. 98-147, Fourth Report and Order in CC Docket No. 96-98, *In the* Matters of Deployment of Wireline Services Offering Advanced Telecommunications Capability and Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, CC Docket Nos. 98-147 & 96-98, FCC 99-355 (Rel. December 9, 1999) ("Line Sharing Order") at ¶ 33.

³⁴ *Line Sharing Order*" ¶ 173 (emphasis added).

xDSL to its own retail or wholesale customers, regardless of whether the incumbent uses an automated or manual process.

Qwest testified that its retail DSL provisioning interval is ten days.³⁵ Qwest noted that the Rhythms testimony would support at most a day or two on top of the Qwest wholesale interval of five days.³⁶

Proposed Issue Resolution: Line sharing is only one of the activities that a CLEC must accomplish to provide xDSL services to an end user. CLECs need to undertake further actions after line sharing is secured. Qwest itself concedes that a day or two would be necessary. Therefore, establishing the line-sharing interval as parity with retail service initiation would place CLECs at a competitive disadvantage. Qwest's brief in effect appears to acknowledge that this conclusion is valid, although it does argue that parity with retail DSL provisioning is the standard. We begin by recommending that the correct standard should be one that promotes parity with Owest retail performance, provided that it recognize:

- That the extra time required by CLECs to complete work to initiate service needs to be accommodated
- That, to the extent that Qwest's total interval to initiate service includes unnecessary time subsequent to loop provisioning, there is no sound reason for imposing time inefficiencies on CLECs as well.

The current Performance Indicator Descriptions (PID) document addresses loop-related intervals under Performance Measure OP-4. Where the PID does address intervals, it provides an important and perhaps determinative reference point for addressing the adequacy of provisioning intervals to allow CLECs a reasonable opportunity to compete with Qwest for local service customers. However, OP-4 does not adopt a specific standard for line sharing. Therefore, we do not have substantial guidance from the ROC in addressing the CLEC concern about provisioning intervals for line sharing.

The evidence of record does lead to the conclusion that Qwest's five-day interval will allow ample opportunity overall for CLECs to complete remaining work in time to provide end users with xDSL services within time frames that are competitive with what Qwest is now applying. Rhythms criticized the information provided by Qwest in response to a request by the facilitator, but those criticisms focus on factual circumstances that Rhythms could have explored earlier, but chose not to address until its brief. Moreover, the explanations provided in the information were reasonable, and suffered no self-evident inaccuracies or gaps. The information included a rational explanation of the way that Qwest records performance, including the creation of reporting categories, not all of which appear to be applicable to line sharing. That information supports a determination that Qwest's five-day interval is appropriate and, even allowing two days or more for additional CLEC work, will make CLEC service-delivery times competitive with those of Qwest.

³⁵ February 27, 2001 transcript at page 30.

³⁶ February 27, 2001 transcript at page 36.

The reasonableness of the five-day interval is also supported by its consistency with the loop intervals for which OP-4 does provide a specific benchmark (i.e., a fixed interval, rather than a parity-with-retail standard). As Rhythms itself noted, unbundled loop intervals are a more meaningful standard than parity with retail service delivery.

Therefore, Qwest's five-day provisioning interval is an appropriate reflection of circumstances that exist today. However, the record does not adequately address the issue of why provisioning need take five days where no dispatch is required. It also is not helpful in determining how to disaggregate the interval if a significantly shorter period were allowed for no-dispatch provisioning. Even more seriously, the need for a total Qwest retail interval approaching 10 days has not been addressed. Qwest's fixed five-day interval is defensible as allowing CLECs a substantial opportunity to meet or beat the 10-day Qwest retail service-initiation interval. If Qwest succeeds in materially shortening the 10-day interval, however, a failure to change the five-day line-sharing interval could leave CLECs disadvantaged. Accordingly, the future variability of the period for DSL services, which we need to recognize are "emerging" services, could render a fixed five-day line-sharing interval inappropriate.

It is perhaps comforting that OP-4 defines the line sharing interval standard as "diagnostic," which indicates that Qwest, the CLEC community, and regulators will be examining performance results and assessing, as time passes, what that information shows about performance comparability and, more importantly, what to do about the standard in response. Based upon this understanding of the status of the PID, the acceptance of Qwest's five-day interval should be with the following conditions:

- It is based upon allowing parity in initiating service to end users as between CLEC and Owest end users
- It is based on the premise that Qwest provisioning is and remains at roughly 10 days
- It is subject to change if and as the ROC decides to change the PID based upon its consideration of results under the OP-4 diagnostic standard for line sharing
- It is also subject to change as Qwest retail intervals drop, under the general standard that the CLEC line sharing interval should remain at two days less than Qwest's retail interval for xDSL services
- If it can be demonstrated that Qwest is: (a) provisioning more than 25 percent of CLEC line sharing orders without dispatch, (b) providing xDSL service to at least the same percentage of its own end users without dispatch, and (c) there is a demonstrated difference of more than 2 days in provisioning with versus without dispatch, then the CLEC provisioning interval will be disaggregated.

V. Subloop Unbundling

Background - Subloop Unbundling

The FCC recognized that the *First Report and Order* left unfinished the question of access to incumbent networks beginning at points closer to the customer. When it returned to the issue, the FCC found that CLECs sought access to subloop elements to accomplish a number of purposes:

- Connect to incumbent on-premises wire
- Gain access to loops that incumbents fed over IDLC
- Provide advanced services over xDSL.

The FCC determined that a lack of access to unbundled subloops was materially diminishing CLECs ability to offer services, and that the granting of such access would stimulate the development of competitor loops over time. Therefore, the FCC decided to require ILECs to provide access to subloops where technically feasible.³⁷

The FCC defines subloops as the portions of the ILEC loop that can be "accessed at terminals in the incumbent's outside plant." An accessible terminal "is a point on the loop where technicians can access the wire or fiber within the cable without removing a splice case." 38

The FCC intended to create a broad and forward-looking definition of subloops:

We believe that a broad definition of the subloop that allows requesting carriers maximum flexibility to interconnect their own facilities at these points where technically feasible will best promote the goals of the Act. Our intention is to ensure that the subloop definition will apply to new as well as current technologies.

Issues Resolved During This Workshop - Subloop Unbundling

1. Subloop Definition

AT&T said that Qwest's SGAT Section 9.3.1.1 definition of subloops was at variance with the FCC's definition as expressed in paragraph 205 of the *UNE Remand Order*. AT&T also questioned what Qwest meant in establishing under Section 9.3.1.1 a new point identified as the "Service Area Interface." Qwest agreed to change the definition and it explained that the SAI was merely another term for the FDI.⁴⁰ This issue can be considered closed.

³⁹ AT&T Comments at page 21.

³⁷ UNE Remand Order at ¶¶ 204 and 205.

³⁸ UNE Remand Order at ¶ 206.

⁴⁰ Stewart Rebuttal at page 17.

2. Unbundling All Loop Types

AT&T said that the SGAT should address access at all available speeds, including: (a) 2-wire copper, (b) 2-wire non-loaded copper, (c) 4-wire copper, DS-1 carrier, (d) DS-3 carrier, and (e) OC-3 through OC-xx SONET over fiber. AT&T noted that the SGAT and Interconnection and Resale Resource Guide (IRRG) do not adequately cover any of these elements, access points, or interface speeds and media. AT&T claimed that CLECs would need to have access to Qwest subloop elements at a variety of locations, in a variety of conditions, and to support a variety of network configurations.⁴¹

Qwest agreed, but noted that loops at DS3 and above have only "feeder" portions and that its cost model for fiber-based loops does not contain a traditional distribution component.⁴² This issue can be considered closed; however these workshops leave open the issue of how costs for subloop elements should be modeled for pricing purposes.

3. Spectrum Restrictions

AT&T argued that the SGAT Section 9.3.2.1 restriction on spectrum usage for the two-wire distribution subloop element (between 300 and 3000 Hz) should be eliminated, because it would deny CLECs the full use of the element's capabilities, which is not consistent with the *UNE Remand Order* at ¶¶166-176.⁴³ Qwest testified that it would allow DSLAM and splitter collocation where space permits, thus making access to the high frequency portions of loops available to CLECs.⁴⁴ Therefore, this issue can be considered closed.

4. Subloop Ordering Information

AT&T asked that Qwest: (a) explain the practical operation of the SGAT Section 9.3.6.1 requirement that "CLEC will use the termination information provided at the completion of the FCP on the LSR for Sub-Loops" and (b) provide in the LSR all the NC/NCI codes for subloop elements that a CLEC might identify. Qwest explained that the process would be similar to the provision of APOT information at the end of a central office collocation installation. Qwest provided a technical publication reference for obtaining NC/NCI code information. This issue can be considered closed.

5. Rights of Way

AT&T commented on several aspects of the adjacent collocation that the SGAT contemplates at FCPs. First, AT&T observed that the right of way acquisition provisions of Section 9.3.8.1 were inconsistent with and should be changed to conform to the generally applicable right of way provisions of Section 10.8. Second, AT&T requested SGAT acknowledgement of the right of CLECs to build their own single points of interconnection or access for subloop elements, and to make the connections necessary for such access.⁴⁷ Qwest agreed to change the SGAT to make applicable the provisions of SGAT 10.8.

⁴³ AT&T Comments at page 20.

_

⁴¹ AT&T Comments at pages 10 and 11.

⁴² Stewart Rebuttal at page 10.

⁴⁴ Stewart Rebuttal at page 17.

⁴⁵ AT&T Comments at page 23.

⁴⁶ Stewart Rebuttal at page 20.

⁴⁷ AT&T Comments at page 25.

AT&T also wanted to add assurances that Qwest would add no other obligations involving securing rights of way or other authorizations from landowners.⁴⁸ Qwest said that its changes to Section 9.3.8.1 would serve to give CLECs access to any applicable Qwest rights, but that if additional agreements were needed with landowners, e.g., for cross connecting from CLEC facilities to the FCP, CLECs would be obliged to procure them independently.⁴⁹ This issue can be considered closed.

6. Dispute Resolution

AT&T commented that SGAT Section 9.3.8.3 would require it to use dispute resolution or arbitration under Section 252 of the Act to address denial of access to subloop elements. AT&T felt that a more expeditious means of resolving disputes was required, given Qwest incentives not to be cooperative in providing access. ⁵⁰

Qwest agreed to remove the language, but noted that the SGAT's generally applicable dispute resolution procedures would apply to these, as well as other disputes.⁵¹ This issue can be considered closed.

7. Copper Feeder and Fiber Subloops

Qwest responded to AT&T's request for subloop access in "fiber to the curb" configurations by saying that the fiber portion of the network in such cases was feeder, not distribution. Qwest agreed that it would provide collocation space or packet-switch unbundling where the conditions for the latter were met (packet switching is addressed separately in this report).⁵² Qwest also opposed creating a standard offering for copper feeder subloops, because it projected virtually no demand for them, noting that AT&T declined to answer a Colorado discovery request seeking information about AT&T's projected use of this element.⁵³ Qwest did agree to make copper feeder subloop elements available by the special request process, through a change to SGAT Section 9.3.1.7.⁵⁴ Qwest also said that its agreement to provide dark fiber at accessible terminals, through SGAT Section 9.7, had proven acceptable to AT&T, which sought access to fiber subloops. Qwest also noted that SGAT Section 9.2.2.3.1 provides for access to high-capacity loops at accessible terminals, to which AT&T also agreed.⁵⁵

AT&T's brief agreed to treat these two subloop types as "nonstandard" offerings, which would only be available through Qwest's "Special Request Process." AT&T reserved its opportunity to address general concerns about the special request process (which applies to many situations other than subloop access) in the upcoming workshop on general SGAT terms and conditions.⁵⁶ This issue can be considered closed.

.

⁴⁸ AT&T Comments at page 25.

⁴⁹ Stewart Rebuttal at page 22.

⁵⁰ AT&T Comments at page 25.

⁵¹ Stewart Rebuttal at page 23.

⁵² Stewart Rebuttal at page 15.

⁵³ Stewart Rebuttal at page 16.

⁵⁴ Owest Brief at page 54.

⁵⁵ Qwest Brief at page 55.

⁵⁶ AT&T Brief at pages 66 and 67.

Issues Deferred - Subloop Unbundling

1. **Undefined Rates**

AT&T recognized that these workshops do not include the evidence necessary to examine the reasonableness of particular rates. Nevertheless, it commented that Owest should at least be required in SGAT Section 9.3.5 to explain the basis on which Qwest would calculate the rates for recurring charges, nonrecurring charges, and the trouble isolation charge, in order to be able to assess whether or not such charges will be discriminatory.⁵⁷ Qwest responded that it would include subloop pricing in SGAT Exhibit A (where prices for all services are generally addressed), but that all pricing issues should be deferred to cost proceedings.⁵⁸ Qwest also noted that its cost studies have averaged shorter MTE distribution costs with the costs of its remaining distribution facilities which overall are longer. Any change to this approach, according to Owest, should only be addressed in cost dockets, where the balancing of policy and economic considerations could be more fully addressed.⁵⁹

It is difficult to see how a conceptual treatment of pricing would be helpful at this point. Whether the prices that Qwest proposes in SGAT Exhibit A will meet all applicable standards, including any discrimination test, will depend upon the specific and detailed means by which Qwest supports them, much as is the case for loops and other UNEs. It is fair to express concern about the basis for prices not yet provided or supported, but it is necessary to defer those questions to proceedings that can address them on the basis of focused and detailed cost information and analysis.

2. Pricing for Overly Broad Definitions of Subloop Categories

AT&T argued that CLEC cost increases would result from the Owest decision to limit subloops to two categories in SGAT Section 9.3.1.2. By this overly broad approach, AT&T said, Qwest would effectively raise the prices to CLECs, by including general feeder or distribution costs that were not appropriate to the more narrowly defined and more extensive list of subloop elements requested by AT&T.60

In its brief, AT&T also argued that subloop pricing for campus environments should be based on narrower costs than included in Qwest's pricing for distribution subloops. This argument is similar to the one made in AT&T's testimony, but it addresses a narrower scope. The issue that AT&T briefed was whether a CLEC should pay the same price for the on-campus portion of a Owest loop as it does when it takes a subloop that extends from the FDI to a customer's location. AT&T seemed to argue that this issue is more than a pricing issue, and, therefore, should be decided here. However, the brief did not serve to distinguish the problem it cited from those typical of the price "de-averaging" issues that are typically dealt with in pricing proceedings. As is true for the broader issue of costs and pricing, this issue should be deferred to proceedings that can more fully address more general deaveraging issues and, as appropriate, the detailed costs that underlie particular loop portions and functionalities.

⁵⁷ AT&T Comments at page 20.

⁵⁸ Stewart Rebuttal at page 17.

⁵⁹ Owest Brief at page 56.

⁶⁰ AT&T Comments at pages 21 and 22.

Issues Remaining in Dispute - Subloop Unbundling

1. Subloop Access at MTE Terminals

AT&T argued that the FCC has made it clear that technically feasible points for gaining access to subloops include accessible terminals at MTEs.⁶¹ In particular, AT&T cited ILEC control over "on premises" wiring as a barrier to competition. AT&T phrased this issue in terms of whether the SGAT was consistent with FCC rules addressing NID access. AT&T cited the *UNE Remand Order* paragraph 233 description of the NID as including:

all features, functions, and capabilities of the facilities used to connect the loop distribution plant to the customer premises wiring, regardless of the particular design of the NID mechanism.

AT&T further argued that the FCC's redefinition of the NID in this order has special significance in the MTE context. Specifically, AT&T said that the change closed a gap CLECs had in reaching customers in cases where ILECs own or control the on-premises wiring that extends between the NID and wiring of the landlord, the building owner, or presumably the end user. The NID thus became in this context not the demarcation point between LEC and customer facilities, but the physical device connecting distribution plant with premises wiring. The demarcation point in this context could therefore be downstream from the NID (i.e., between the NID and the point where Qwest control over on-premises wiring ended).

The critical aspect of the FCC's order was that it made the demarcation point, rather than the NID, the key factor in determining where a loop stops on the end user side, according to AT&T. Therefore, there could be multiple demarcation points, e.g., one per building or one for every end user located in the building, depending upon location-specific circumstances. Therefore, the demarcation point could be at, within, or outside the NID.⁶² AT&T sought assurances that it could get access to premise wiring in accord with the FCC's conception of demarcation points at MTEs.

Qwest's brief considered AT&T's continuing focus on NID definition to be misplaced, because the definition was only relevant when Qwest wanted to require collocation to get subloop access at MTE terminals. Having agreed not to require collocation at MTE terminals, Qwest considered the argument about NID definitions to be without practical import in this context. ⁶³ Nevertheless, Qwest continued by offering a construction of the *UNE Remand Order* that differed from the one urged by AT&T. Qwest cited paragraph 234 as supporting the conclusion

⁶¹ AT&T Brief at page 40, citing *In the Matter of Promotion of Competitive Networks in Local Telecommunications Markets*, WT Docket No. 99-217; *Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions of the Telecommunications Act of 1996*, CC Docket No. 96-98; *Review of Sections 68.104 and 68.213 of the Commission's Rules Concerning Connection of Simple Inside Wiring to the Telephone Network*, CC Docket 88-57; *First Report and Order and Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking in* WT Docket No. 99-217, *Fifth Report and Order and Memorandum Opinion and Order in* CC Docket No. 96-98, and *Fourth Report and Order and Memorandum Opinion and Order in* CC Docket No. 88-57. (rel. October 25, 2000) ("MTE Order")

⁶² AT&T Brief at pages 43 and 44.

⁶³ Qwest Brief at page 37.

that the NID is equivalent to the demarcation point between "carrier and customer premises facilities".

Qwest asserted that AT&T's motivation in seeking a different definition of the NID was to avoid the FCC Rule 319(a)(2)(D) provision that the subloop access is subject to FCC collocation rules. While agreeing to waive collocation requirements at MTE terminals inside buildings, Qwest continued to assert that CLECs must comply with collocation rules when gaining access to subloop elements at accessible terminals, which include MTE terminals.⁶⁴

Proposed Issue Resolution: The framing of the question in terms of NID definition appears to presume that the answer will by definition determine provisioning intervals and the degree of direct or unmediated access CLECs will secure to the points where subloop elements begin and end. For example, if the point of access to the subloop element is within what is described as the NID, then there is a contention that it cannot be subject to collocation requirements; conversely, if it is not within the NID, then there arises the argument that collocation and its 90-day standard intervals apply. There also arises the related argument that Qwest can demand measures, such as separate cross-connection facilities, as part of its right to segregation of facilities in collocation situations.

As one might expect, AT&T took a position on the NID definition question that would eliminate the 90-say collocation intervals, and would allow it fairly free access to the terminal involved. No more surprisingly, Qwest took a contrary position. However, neither position comports with what we consider to be the less dogmatic and a more pragmatic approach that is required here. It is difficult to conceive that the FCC in addressing subloop unbundling had in mind the rote application of collocation and CLEC access rules that have been crafted primarily with reference to more traditional and very different collocation environments; e.g., central offices. In any case, we do not propose a resolution here that will provide simple definitional answers. Such answers cannot be expected to respond to the full range and wide variety of possible field conditions at Qwest's "accessible terminals," i.e., those places where subloop access is required.

The benefits of a more case-specific approach were very well demonstrated on the record of this workshop. We began the discussion of MTE terminal access by addressing a Qwest proposal that would have allowed free CLEC access to Qwest terminals inside buildings in the case of unenclosed, in-building terminals connecting Qwest facilities to the on-premises wiring of end users. However, where the terminal was enclosed, regardless of how substantial or secured that enclosure might be, Qwest would have required a separate CLEC cross-connect block, collocation, and presumably Qwest performance of jumpering between CLEC and Qwest facilities. Moreover, all these steps could be avoided in those cases where the on-premises wiring on the customer-facing side of the Qwest terminal was owned by the building owner, rather than by Owest.

There ensued a long and very illuminating discussion of the service reliability, safety, work efficiency, cost, and engineering and operating practices of the alternative means for providing CLEC access to such in-building terminals under the various physical and on-premise wiring ownership scenarios that might exist. Photographs depicting the principal possible configurations

⁶⁴ Qwest Brief at page 40.

aided that discussion. The discussion was between the engineering and operations personnel of the carriers; it was entirely unencumbered by definitions from FCC orders or presumptions that any particular FCC access rules must apply. From the discussion, it became clear what kind of equipment segregation was necessary from an engineering and operations standpoint, and, in turn, what intervals were appropriate. In other words, we did not begin from arguing which standard, pre-defined FCC situation was most analogous, and end by applying standard conditions or intervals on the basis of who won the definitional argument. Rather, we began from an examination of case-specific circumstances and let an emerging understanding of the particular situation at hand lead to what became a reasonably self-evident set of necessary conditions, limits, and durations.

The clarity of the solution, when viewed from this pragmatic perspective was underscored by Qwest's agreement to drop its previous distinctions between closed and unenclosed terminals. It was gratifying that the parties were able to agree on a solution in this context. It was less appealing to note that, in their briefs, they continued to try to approach the problem in other remaining contexts by relying upon the same collocation and NID arguments.

At least, the problem of collocation and Qwest-mediated access to accessible terminals has been resolved in the case of all in-building (and on-building) terminals. However, the dispute remains for all of the other accessible terminals that exist in Qwest's outside plant. Unfortunately, we do not have a record that will allow for a prior and similarly pragmatic solution in those cases. In fact, making such a record for all possible cases would appear to be unmanageable anyway, given the evidence from all sides confirming the wide variety of circumstances that exist in Qwest's network.

However, we should note that the in-building MTE terminal location appeared to be the one of greatest concern, and therefore greatest likelihood for common CLEC use to gain access to subloop elements. The ability to get to the practical bottom of that case suggests the wisdom of a similar approach to other situations. AT&T clearly prefers advance solutions to as many access types as possible, fearing appropriately that market entry plans could be delayed by the need for time consuming processes, such as BFRs. However, the workshop consideration of this issue showed the benefits of a case-by-case approach. Moreover, it shows that advance solutions can be worked out for particular configuration types, provided that the focus is on the factors relevant to those particular types. Therefore, there is no reason why the development of such solutions need await the time when live customers are waiting for service.

Therefore, the resolution of this issue (outside the context of in- or on-building MTE terminals) should not try to define the problem away generally by recourse to broad FCC NID and collocation definitions and requirements, which are not helpful in this particular context. There should rather be recognition in the SGAT of the need to address the particulars of access to "accessible" terminals for subloop elements. The following SGAT language will accomplish this purpose:

(a) For any configuration not specifically addressed in this SGAT, the conditions of CLEC access shall be as required by the particular circumstances. These conditions include: (1) the degree of equipment separation required, (2) the need

for separate cross-connect devices, (3) the interval applicable to any collocation or other provisioning requiring Qwest performance or cooperation, (4) the security required to maintain the safety and reliability of the facilities of Qwest and other CLECs, (5) the engineering and operations standards and practices to be applied at Qwest facilities where they are also used by CLECs for subloop element access, and (6) any other requirements, standards, or practices necessary to assure the safe and reliable operation of all carriers' facilities.

- (b) Any party may request, under any procedure provided for by this SGAT for addressing non-standard services or network conditions, the development of standard terms and conditions for any configuration(s) for which it can provide reasonably clear technical and operational characteristics and parameters. Once developed through such a process, those terms and conditions shall be generally available to any CLEC for any configuration fitting the requirements established through such process.
- (c) Prior to the development of such standard terms and conditions, Qwest shall impose in the six areas identified in item (1) above only those requirements or intervals that are reasonably necessary.

2. Requiring LSRs for Access to Premise Wiring at MTEs

AT&T argued that the requirement to submit LSRs to gain access to such subloops unjustifiably discriminates against CLECs. LSRs represent to AT&T a complex and expensive means for acquiring access to facilities that have nominal cost, and which Qwest can use for its own purposes without similar burdens.⁶⁵ Rather than submitting an LSR, AT&T proposed that it specify monthly and in aggregate (by MTE terminal) the addresses of the MTEs where a CLEC has obtained access and the cables and pairs it is using there.⁶⁶

AT&T stated that the cable and pair information would suffice to provide Qwest the carrier facility assignment (CFA) information needed to bill CLECs; it is not necessary to use an LSR for providing billing information. AT&T said that Qwest's failure to provide as a late-filed exhibit the promised OBF document addressing subloop access supports a conclusion that there is at least as yet no industry standard that addresses subloop billing information.⁶⁷

AT&T also said that an LSR is not necessary to address maintenance and repair needs. AT&T said that concerns about mistakes or sabotage in installing service at MTE terminals exist whether or not Qwest owns the on-premises wiring, and that Qwest failed to say how an LSR would affect the occurrence of installation problems. AT&T argued that its proposed monthly notifications, combined with its proposal that all parties identify their facilities separately, would be adequate notice to Qwest for maintenance and repair purposes.

⁶⁶ AT&T Brief at page 47.

⁶⁷ AT&T Brief at pages 48 and 49.

⁶⁵ AT&T Brief at page 46.

AT&T proposed language for SGAT Sections 9.3.8.3, 9.3.8.8, and 9.3.8.10, in order to address its proposals for monthly provision of circuit and pair information, billing and payment, and facility identification.

Qwest argued that LSRs represent an industry standard for wholesale orders generally. More specifically, Qwest asserted that the Ordering and Billing Forum, which is the national forum for LSR ordering guidelines, creates the "de facto" standard for ordering. Qwest said that its soon-to-be issued draft solution for subloop unbundling will require an LSR for subloop ordering.⁶⁸

Qwest also said that the LSR information that it requires for subloops is substantially the same as what it requires for loops. Moreover, Qwest noted, AT&T conceded that nore than half of the orders involved would require an LSR anyway, because of the prevalence of number porting when local service customers switch carriers. In summary, Qwest argued that the information is necessary for a number of reasons:⁶⁹

- Allowing the CLEC representative to validate that interconnection point information is valid and will be accepted
- Providing billing information without which inefficient manual billing systems would be required
- Providing the information Qwest needs to fulfill its maintenance and repair obligations
- Providing in a readily available format the information necessary to allow customers later to switch to other carriers smoothly
- Preventing unexpected problems in connecting a customer who moves into vacated premises, but wishes to take service from a different carrier than the one serving the customer who vacated
- Putting burdens on technicians to make uninformed decisions about installation or service matters.

Proposed Issue Resolution: AT&T's argument about the low cost and the low incidence of repair for on-premises wiring does not support its proposed long-term solution. Because Qwest is entitled to bill for the wiring if it owns it, it is also entitled to regularity and completeness for billing purposes. LSRs provide an efficient means of getting Qwest's billing systems the information needed; comparable manual methods would not be efficient; and AT&T's solution is simply not rigorous enough to offer Qwest what it is entitled to have when it makes its facilities available for CLEC use as subloop elements.

AT&T similarly errs in concluding that the high reliability of the on-premises wiring makes maintenance and repair needs insufficient to justify LSRs for access to on-premises wiring. High reliability might reduce repair incidences, but it will not eliminate them. Qwest has a legitimate business need to have the information it requires to respond efficiently to repair requests. Moreover, the fact that customers may continue to switch carriers also argues for control over the information about which facilities serve them. Similarly, customers who move into vacated premises are by no means certain to want service from the same carrier who served the prior

_

⁶⁸ Qwest Brief at page 41.

⁶⁹ Qwest Brief at pages 42 through 44.

occupant. Allowing for the creation of reliable information without significant delay is also important for these service transfers. LSRs, which will be the standard means of getting such data into Qwest's information systems, serve these purposes more effectively than would AT&T's approach.

Therefore, there should be no general waiver of LSR requirements for CLEC access to Qwest's on-premises MTE wire as a subloop element. However, the issue of whether the LSR process can and should be altered to meet the particular needs of this element remains relevant. Depending on decisions about issues that cannot be resolved here, such as price deaveraging, the administrative costs imposed by a traditional application of LSR requirements could profoundly alter the overall costs of securing access to on-premises wire. We should not lightly adopt requirements that make the processing of requests of a service the most expensive cost of securing it. In addition, the issues of customer switching and cycling of occupants do not necessarily argue for advance LSR submission, provided there is an effective way of providing it soon after a CLEC begins to serve a customer. The undisputed fact that such facilities will have a substantially lower trouble rate also would support a brief delay in the provision of LSR information, provided that other reasons support such a delay.

There are such reasons. AT&T presented evidence that the addition of an LSR period would always put CLECs at a disadvantage relative to Qwest in serving customers. Qwest did note that such a delay would occur in many cases anyway, due to the number of switches that require number portability, which clearly requires an LSR. However, it would appear that for more than a third (at least) of AT&T LSRs involving a change of service provider, number portability is not required.

Therefore, if there is a way to provide for an alternate method of submitting LSRs to avoid costs or delay, the circumstances warrant it. The record makes it clear that such a method exists. If a CLEC provides Qwest with LSR filing, but Qwest holds it in suspense for five days, a CLEC could proceed with connection of its facilities to Qwest's on-premises wiring and begin service delivery. Such an LSR could inform Qwest's systems to begin payment responsibility from the beginning of suspense period, thus obviating any concern about payment for all services delivered. During the five days, Qwest could also secure the circuit identifying information and enter it directly (i.e., not requiring Qwest to route it to the CLEC for re-entry into an LSR for filing with Qwest). Thus, within five days, Qwest would have the data needed to support repair and maintenance, service provider change, and occupant cycling needs. Such a short period would mitigate concerns about these needs under the circumstances unique to on-premises Qwest wiring in MTEs.

Qwest testified that this approach would not impose upon it any substantial inefficiency, and would generally meet its concerns about billing and service issues.⁷⁰ This approach would also save CLECs the burden and costs associated with entry of the circuit-identifying information (which would otherwise be secured by Qwest and passed along to CLECs as described elsewhere in this portion of this report). It provides an effective balancing of the concerns of Qwest and AT&T. In contrast, AT&T's approach would be less satisfactory in addressing Qwest's billing and its service concerns. Moreover, the facility tagging requirements, which Qwest would have

_

⁷⁰ February 28, 2001 Transcript at page 237.

to meet at its own expense, introduces inefficiency, and begs the question of why Owest should tag facilities to support access by CLECs. Therefore, the SGAT should contain a provision as follows:

For access to Owest's on-premises MTE wire as a subloop element, a CLEC shall be required to submit an LSR, but need not include thereon the circuit-identifying information or await completion of LSR processing by Qwest before securing such access. Qwest shall secure the circuit-identifying information, and will be responsible for entering it on the LSR when it is received. Owest shall be entitled to charge for the subloop element as of the time of LSR submission by CLEC.

3. CLEC Facility Inventories

SGAT Section 9.3.3.5 requires that Owest inventory CLEC cable and pair terminations at MTEs. AT&T proposed instead a requirement that Qwest, at its expense, mark its owned or controlled on-premises wire and related facilities, tagging each cable pair currently being used by Owest to serve an end user. AT&T took the position that, if Owest had no reason to conduct an inventory earlier, then the entry of a competitor at the MTE terminal adds no reason to perform an activity that only benefits Owest operationally. Moreover, AT&T's belief in the low failure rate of onpremises wire meant that even Owest would not gain much in terms of maintenance and repair needs by requiring inventories. AT&T also argued that identifying facilities would be much less intrusive and more effective than inventories as a means of informing technicians providing new services, changing customers over, or maintaining existing ones of which carrier is currently using what facilities at MTEs.⁷¹

AT&T therefore asked that its facility identification proposal (its proposed SGAT Section 9.3.8.3) replace Owest's inventorying proposal contained in Section 9.3.3.5. As an alternative to its Section 9.3.8.3 proposal, AT&T asked that it be permitted to provide any termination information deemed necessary when it contacts Qwest to seek a determination of who owns onpremises wiring at MTEs. AT&T also objected to Owest charges for inventorying CLEC facilities under SGAT Section 9.3.6.4.1.⁷²

Owest's argument focused on whether inventories needed to be completed before, rather than after, CLECs have completed their installation processes. Qwest said that it should precede installation because the inventory is a prerequisite to LSR issuance. Qwest inventories of CLEC facilities provide addressing information for subloop terminations, which are recognizable when a CLEC issues an LSR for a subloop. Qwest argued that the service delay impact of a five-day interval for inventories is mitigated because it need only be done once per MTE, i.e., as part of the CLEC's first subloop order at the MTE. ⁷³

Proposed Issue Resolution: Qwest did not propose any reason for inventories other than to provide information necessary for LSRs. The inventories, as discussed under the immediately preceding issue, may be performed during the LSR suspense period. For the reasons discussed under the same issue, AT&T's alternate facility identification proposal should not be adopted.

AT&T Brief at pages 52 and 53.AT&T Brief at page 54.

⁷³ Owest Brief at page 47.

Determining Ownership of Inside Wire

AT&T cited FCC requirements for ILECs to negotiate in good faith to relocate a minimum point of entry (MPOE) within 45 days when requested by the owner, and for ILECs to provide information about the demarcation point between ILEC and owner facilities within 10 days. SGAT Section 9.3.5.4.1 allowed Qwest 10 days (measured from CLEC notification of an intent to provide service at an MTE) to determine what on-premises wire Owest owned. AT&T would allow CLECs to rely upon an owner's declaration of ownership of on-premises wire, thus negating the need to await Owest's determination, which could entail a 10-day delay.

Absent an owner's self-declaration of ownership, AT&T would allow Qwest 10 days to determine ownership, but would limit the response period to one day at MTEs where another CLEC had already sought Qwest ownership information. AT&T would also require Qwest to absorb the costs of the ownership determination.⁷⁴ AT&T argued that its proposal was reasonable because: (a) Owest conceded that it too would sometimes need to consult or negotiate with the owner about ownership, (b) paragraphs 54 and 56 of the FCC's MTE Order creates a presumption that the owner can make a determination of wire ownership, and (c) Qwest's position that a CLEC would be converting Qwest property absent proof that the owner of the MTE also owned the on-premises wire conflicts with the policy behind the MTE Order, AT&T therefore asked that its proposed SGAT Sections 9.3.8.2 and 9.3.8.4 be accepted in lieu of Owest's proposed Section 9.3.5.4.1.⁷⁵

Owest supported the existing SGAT language as providing a reasonable way for determining where exactly its maintenance and repair obligations would extend. Qwest considered AT&T's concern to be largely a matter of extending the time before CLECs could be able to provide service.76

Proposed Issue Resolution: The issue has two aspects: (a) responsibility for the Qwest costs involved in determining ownership, and (b) whether and by how much the ownership determination should delay CLEC access to subloop UNEs.

The determination of ownership is principally relevant to the question of whether CLECs must pay Owest costs associated with on-premises MTE wire. Only if Owest owns the facilities or the rights to their use could it be entitled to payment. The SGAT does not directly address the question of responsibility for ownership determinations. It is reasonable to place upon Qwest the burden of determining facility ownership before it charges for those facilities. Therefore, it should be responsible for the costs of such determination beyond reasonable and minimal costs for examination of its records. Such costs should be based upon the premise that Owest is obligated to keep adequate and reasonably retrievable records associated with facility ownership. To the extent that failure to do so imposes added burdens, Qwest should absorb them. Qwest should also be entitled to reimbursement for any incremental ownership determination actions that it is forced undertake as a result of bad-faith CLEC actions associated with an assertion of ownership by parties other than Qwest.

AT&T Brief at page 56.AT&T Brief at pages 56 and 57.

⁷⁶ Owest Brief at page 47.

Much of the pricing for subloop elements remains to be initially determined by Qwest. Qwest should complete the design of its pricing in accord with these requirements.

The timing issue remains to be resolved. AT&T made a valid argument that determining ownership should take only a nominal time period after the issue has already been raised by another CLEC at the same MTE. Moreover, where a CLEC can provide Qwest with a written statement setting forth a reasonably clear, supported, and complete basis for a claim that the MTE owner also owns the on-premises wiring, the period should be reduced. The provision of such information will provide Qwest with information that should help it to narrow the activities necessary to make a reasonable investigation of ownership.

Therefore, SGAT Section 9.3.5.4.1 should be revised to include at its end the following sentence:

In the event that there has been a previous determination of on-premises wiring ownership at the same MTE, Qwest shall provide such notification within two (2) business days. In the event that CLEC provides Qwest with a written claim by an authorized representative of the MTE owner that such owner owns the facilities on the customer side of the terminal, the preceding ten (10) day period shall be reduced to five (5) calendar days from Qwest's receipt of such claim.

5. Intervals

In the event of non-acceptance of its previous arguments about the FCP process, AT&T asked that, for the determination of on-premises wire ownership and the inventorying of circuit terminations, the longest interval for determining ownership and inventorying be not greater than 15 days. AT&T noted that Qwest discussed intervals of up to 30 days for open building terminals and 45 days for closed building terminals.⁷⁷

Qwest began its response on the interval question with a defense of the 10 calendar-day period for determining ownership, which Qwest said was less than the 10 business days to which it was entitled to have under the *MTE Order*. Qwest said that it would, upon completion of the ownership determination, take up to five days for performing an inventory (but only if it were for the first LSR for subloop access at an MTE). Qwest argued that this one-time per-MTE interval for basic infrastructure reasons, which could take up to 15 days, was reasonable and unlikely to delay CLECs, who have their own work (e.g., placing the CLEC terminal and running conduit to the Qwest terminal) to do in any case.

-

⁷⁷ AT&T Brief at page 48.

AT&T Brief at page 48.

78 Qwest Brief at page 48, citing First Report and Order and Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking in WT Docket No. 99-217, Fifth Report and Order and Memorandum Opinion and Order in CC Docket No. 96-98, and Fourth Report and Order and Memorandum Opinion and Order in CC Docket No. 88-57, In the Matter of Promotion of Competitive Networks in Local Telecommunications Markets, Wireless Communications Association International, Inc. Petition for Rulemaking to Amend Section 1.4000 of the Commission's Rules to Preempt Restrictions on Subscriber Premises Reception or Transmission Antennas Designed to Provide Fixed Wireless Services, Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions in the Telecommunications Act of 1996, Review of Sections 68.104 and 68.213 of the Commission's Rules Concerning Connection of Simple Inside Wiring to the Telephone Network, CC Docket No. 96-98 & 88-57, FCC 00-366 (Rel. October 25, 2000) ("MTE Order") ¶ 56.

Qwest also noted that AT&T did not specifically criticize the standard collocation interval of 90 days where the SGAT required FCPs. Qwest noted that it had eliminated the FCP requirement for building MTE terminals, limiting it to detached terminals.⁸⁰

Proposed Issue Resolution: FCP requirements have been eliminated for on-premises wiring access in a number of MTE situations; the LSR requirements have been eased; the need for a facility inventory is no longer a prerequisite to LSR issuance; and much of AT&T's argument regarding facility inventorying has been accepted. There is therefore no reason to consider added relief on the issue of intervals.

6. Requirement for Qwest-Performed Jumpering at MTEs

The pre-filed testimony and comments of the parties addressed jumpering generally; i.e., not specifically in the context of MTEs. AT&T argued that the SGAT Section 9.3.6.4 requirement that Qwest run the jumpers from subloop elements or disconnect Qwest equipment allows for abuse by Qwest. Qwest objected to changing the provision, which it said was consistent with the practice of other RBOCs, and which it said was consistent with legal precedent addressing the ability of ILECs to segregate their equipment in collocation contexts. Qwest said that, because segregation was not realistic at FDIs, allowing only Qwest technicians' access to the FDIs for jumpering constituted a reasonable substitute.

The subject of making connections at MTEs occasioned much testimony at the workshop. Qwest agreed to eliminate a distinction that it had been making between enclosed and open terminals that were located in MTE buildings. Qwest agreed to allow CLECs to make connections and to eliminate the requirement of an FCP in either type of terminal.

Qwest also agreed to eliminate requirements that CLECs establish at MTE terminals the separate cross connect field that Qwest earlier required, in order to avoid technician uncertainty about facility ownership.⁸³ Qwest noted that it had already exceeded requirements by allowing CLECs to run the jumpers at in-building MTE terminals. Qwest was not willing to extend this approach to other MTE terminals; its systems would not support it there.⁸⁴

Proposed Issue Resolution: The recommended solution to the first unresolved subloop issue, *Subloop Access at MTE Terminals*, provided for a case-by-case analysis of the needs and circumstances associated with unique and varying outside plant configurations and conditions. That recommended solution included issues associated with jumpering. The record here does not support allowing CLECs to perform such work outside the context of in- or on-building MTE terminals. However, CLECs can request such authority as described under the first issue and it should be granted to them where its propriety can be supported by showings made in the context of specific requests.

⁸¹ AT&T Comments at page 24.

-

⁸⁰ Qwest Brief at page 50.

⁸² Stewart Rebuttal at page 29, citing GTE v. FCC, 205 F.3d 416 (D.C. Circuit 2000).

⁸³ Qwest Brief at page 37.

⁸⁴ Qwest Brief at page 52.

7. Expanding Explicitly Available Subloop Elements

AT&T argued that the SGAT fails to provide the depth and scope of treatment that is required to reflect the FCC's treatment of subloop unbundling. AT&T began by noting the definition adopted by the FCC:

We define subloops as portions of the loop that can be accessed at terminals in the incumbent's outside plant. An accessible terminal is a point on the loop where technicians can access the wire or fiber within the cable without removing a splice case to reach the wire or fiber within.⁸⁵

Therefore, AT&T argued, the SGAT must address the full range of subloop elements and access points contemplated by the FCC, which AT&T listed as including the following, along with any other technically feasible subloop element or access point:

Distribution Facilities	Feeder Facilities
Feeder/Distribution Interface (FDI)	Minimum Point Of Entry (MPOE)
Network Interface Device (NID)	Riser Cable In Multistory Buildings
Inside Wire	Peripheral Distribution Facilities
Wire Closets	Digital Loop Carrier Cabinets
Single Point of Interface (SPOI)	Central Office Terminal, COSMIC or MDF
Pole or Pedestal	

The following comment summarizes AT&T's overall view of the required SGAT content in the area of subloops: ⁸⁶

Qwest uses a wide variety of equipment types, configurations, and media in its local network. To adequately address all configurations that a CLEC may need to access, Qwest must present both general and specific obligations to cover the CLEC's range of subloop needs.

AT&T also objected to the requirement that access other than through the "standard" means prescribed by SGAT Section 9.3.4 be decided through the BFR process. AT&T argued that this process should be limited to deciding technical feasibility, which is not at issue for subloop elements where the FCC has already determined technical feasibility. AT&T recommended that the SGAT be changed to provide for access to all available subloop elements.⁸⁷

Qwest responded that it agreed to provide access to subloop elements at all technically feasible points and accessible terminals. It said that, given the "very limited" demand for subloops to date and the very large number of potential subloop access points, it would be impractical to develop standard offerings for more than the most likely expected circumstances. Qwest recommended that the SGAT's remote-premise collocation provisions be used to establish clear demarcation points for subloop elements and access.

⁸⁵ UNE Remand Order at \P 206.

⁸⁶ AT&T Comments at page 11.

⁸⁷ AT&T Comments at page 23.

⁸⁸ Stewart Rebuttal at pages 9 and 10.

Qwest believed that the establishment of demarcation points through the collocation procedures would allow for the application of many of the aspects securing the feeder and distribution subloop elements, which the SGAT does address in some detail. Qwest considered this approach to be consistent with the requirements of the FCC's August 10, 2000 *Order on Reconsideration and Second Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking* in CC Docket No. 98-147.

Qwest did agree to change the provisions requiring the use of the BFR process for other than the SGAT's standard subloop elements. Qwest offered to use instead the ICB (individual case basis) process. Qwest cited the example of feeder/distribution interfaces, of which it said there were more than 70,000 in its network, all of them subject to different field conditions and local regulations that can impose difficulties in using them as access points to subloop elements.⁸⁹

Qwest's brief then moved further on this issue by offering the Special Request Process for additional subloop offerings for which there is not substantial "reasonably foreseeable demand." It considered this process adequate to make added offerings available, should they prove to be needed.

Proposed Issue Resolution: The participants agreed that Qwest's loop plant comprises a wide range of configurations and circumstances. It is not appropriate to expect Qwest to undertake the effort to design standard offerings for every conceivable case, without reference to potential demand for each. AT&T did little more than list all the conceivable types of unbundling that might be of concern to it in the future. Where there was one of particular interest or importance, e.g., access to MTE terminals and on-premise wiring, AT&T gave specific information about its needs and plans and about the details of gaining the access it felt it needed. In other cases, AT&T did not do the same.

It is appropriate to examine the alleged gaps in the SGAT in light of claimed needs. It is not appropriate to criticize Qwest for a failure to address configurations about which no CLEC provided any concrete expression of current or near term need. In these circumstances, Qwest's offering of the special request process allows for the consideration of such offerings when they become more tangible. There is also no reason why that process, once it identifies what terms and conditions are appropriate to specific circumstances, cannot serve to establish generally available offerings where appropriate. Finally, we will address the specifics of the Special Request Process at the upcoming workshop on general SGAT terms and conditions. To the extent that it is not efficient enough to address this particular need as well as it might, changes to it can be addressed at that time.

-

⁸⁹ Stewart Rebuttal at pages 13 and 14.

VI. Packet Switching

Background - Packet Switching

Some networks divide messages into units, which are typically called packets, frames, or cells. Packet switches route these message units among network users. The FCC considers the DSLAM a part of the functionality of packet switching. DSLAMs split the voice and data signals carried over copper wire. The voice portion is transmitted toward a typical telecommunications switch, while the data signals are transmitted to a packet switch. Overall, the FCC defines packet switching as:⁹⁰

The function of routing individual data units, or "packets," based on address or other routing information contained in the packets.

The FCC did not unbundle packet switching in the *First Report and Order* because it considered the record inadequate to support it. However, the *UNE Remand Order* did require ILECs to unbundle packet switching when four conditions are met:⁹¹

- Qwest has provided end users with loops aided by digital loop carrier or a systems that replaces copper with fiber optic equipment in distribution facilities
- Qwest does not have spare copper loops that will provide adequate home run capability
- Qwest has not permitted CLECs to deploy CLEC DSLAMs at Qwest remote terminals or other suitable interconnection points in the area in question
- Owest has deployed packet switching capability for its own use.

Issued Resolved During This Workshop – Packet Switching

1. Defining Packet Switching

AT&T commented that the SGAT Section 9.20.1 definition of packet switching was not consistent with that required by paragraph 304 of the *UNE Remand Order*. ⁹² Qwest agreed to modify the definition in a manner that proved acceptable to the parties in workshops in another state. ⁹³ This issue can be considered closed.

⁹⁰ UNE Remand Order at \P 304.

⁹¹ AT&T Comments at page 45, citing the *UNE Remand Order* at ¶ 313.

⁹² AT&T Comments at pages 56 and 57.

⁹³ Stewart Rebuttal at page 27.

Defining the Condition Regarding No CLEC Collocation of DSLAMS

AT&T commented that SGAT Section 9.20.2.1 did not conform to the requirements of FCC Rule 51.319, without specifying where in particular the problem lay. 94 Qwest agreed to change the condition to better match FCC language addressing the condition applicable to circumstances involving the failure of Qwest to permit collocation of CLEC DSLAMs.95 This issue can be closed as it relates to the specific wording of this condition; however, disputed issues about the application of the condition remain for resolution below.

3. Access at Any Feasible Point

AT&T commented that SGAT Sections 9.20.2.2 through 9.20.2.5 should be broadened to make it clear that access to packet switching could be gained at any technically feasible point.⁹⁶ Owest changed SGAT Sections 9.20.2.2 and 9.20.2.3 to address this concern. 97 This issue can be considered closed.

4. Availability of CLEC-Specified Packet Switching Options

AT&T asked for clarification of what Qwest meant by the SGAT Section 9.20.2.6 reference to "as available" CLEC options. Quest testified that this section's intent was to allow CLECs to choose all available switching-equipment options, not only those currently being used by Owest for its own end users. 98 This issue can be considered closed.

5. Limiting Access to Packet Management Systems

Qwest uses these systems to provision the virtual channel for packet network service. AT&T expressed concern about the SGAT Section 9.20.2.7 prohibition on CLEC access to those systems.⁹⁹ Owest responded that it is not possible to build a firewall that will allow more than one entity to have access. Owest did commit to give access that Owest would mediate, through use of service orders, and to allow direct CLEC access should an acceptable means of partitioning be developed in the future. 100 This issue can be considered closed.

6. Separate Rate Elements for Packet Switching Components

AT&T expressed concern that the establishment of separate rate elements for the Customer Channel, the Switch Loop Capability, and the Switch Interface Port, suggested the existence of not one, but three separate UNEs.¹⁰¹ Owest replied that there is only one packet switching UNE. but that the way it costed the element produced three rate elements, which had the benefit of allowing CLECs to save costs if they could self-provision the associated transport elements. Qwest also acknowledged that the reasonableness of the magnitudes of these elements would be better considered in cost dockets. 102 Therefore, this issue can be considered closed for the purposes of these proceedings.

-The Liberty Consulting Group-

⁹⁴ AT&T Comments at page 57.

⁹⁵ Stewart Rebuttal at page 29.

⁹⁶ AT&T Comments at page 57.

⁹⁷ Stewart Rebuttal at page 30.

⁹⁸ Stewart Rebuttal at page 30.

⁹⁹ AT&T Comments at page 58.

¹⁰⁰ Stewart Rebuttal at page 31.

¹⁰¹ AT&T Comments at page 58.

¹⁰² Stewart Rebuttal at page 31.

7. Satisfying the Condition Relating to DSLAM Collocation Denial

In response to concerns about how CLECs could make the SGAT Section 9.20.4 showing of a denial of access to remotely deploy a DSLAM, Qwest worked with CLECs to modify the section to specify available methods.¹⁰³ The incorporation of those methods into the section closes this issue. Qwest made a similar change to respond to an AT&T request to specify how a CLEC could comply with the connectivity requirement of this SGAT section.¹⁰⁴

8. *Maintenance and Repair Responsibilities*

AT&T commented that SGAT Section 9.20.5 should be modified to provide for certain joint CLEC/Qwest responsibilities, such as cooperative testing. Owest asked for more specification about the nature of such activities. Qwest interpreted the lack of AT&T follow up on this issue in other states workshops as an indication that the issue was closed. The lack of AT&T response or briefing of this issue indicates that it can be considered closed.

Issues Remaining in Dispute – Packet Switching

1. Availability of Spare Copper Loops

AT&T commented that Qwest is increasingly using digital loop carrier (DLC) technology to:

- Multiply the number of loops that its facilities can serve (a practice known as "pair gain")
- Extend loops to geographically remote areas
- Enable Qwest to provide advanced services.

AT&T said that this increased use of DLC has increased CLEC difficulties in providing competitive DSL services, because there are fewer continuous copper loops connecting end users with Qwest central offices. CLECs either need appropriate electronics on the DLC system, room to remotely deploy a DSLAM that can be connected to the end user's copper subloop, or a continuous, suitable (which generally means of not too long a physical distance) copper loop between the end user and the Qwest central office (a "home run" copper loop).

Therefore, AT&T said, the FCC required Qwest to provide unbundled packet switching (which will allow a CLEC to secure a loop that will provide advanced services of the same quality as Qwest or any data affiliate provides) when the four applicable conditions were met in an area where CLECs want to serve end users:¹⁰⁸

- Qwest has provided end users with loops aided by digital loop carrier or a systems that replaces copper with fiber optic equipment in distribution facilities
- Qwest does not have spare copper loops that will provide adequate home run capability

¹⁰⁴ Stewart Rebuttal at page 33.

¹⁰⁷ AT&T Comments at pages 45 and 46.

¹⁰³ Stewart Rebuttal at page 32.

¹⁰⁵ AT&T Comments at page 59.

¹⁰⁶ Stewart Rebuttal at page 33.

¹⁰⁸ AT&T Comments at page 45, citing the *UNE Remand Order* at ¶ 313.

- Qwest has not permitted CLECs to deploy CLEC DSLAMs at Qwest remote terminals or other suitable interconnection points in the area in question
- Owest has deployed packet switching capability for its own use.

AT&T argued that providing home run copper loops, even where they are available, will not enable CLECs to provide services at the same quality that Qwest can provide in cases where Owest does not use such loops, but has remotely deployed DSLAMs. Such Owest DSLAMs shorten the distance that signals travel over copper, thus enabling higher rates of data transfer. AT&T cited the example of ADSL, over which the data transfer rate more than quintuples if the copper portion is reduced from 18,000 to 9,000 feet.¹⁰⁹

In summary, according to AT&T, giving CLECs access to home-run-copper loops will still leave them at a significant disadvantage, when Owest can transfer signals at much higher rates in areas where its remotely deployed DSLAMs shorten the copper portion of its connection with end users. CLECs, according to AT&T need to be able to: (a) collocate their DSLAMs at the same place that Qwest has done so, or (b) gain access to Qwest's packet switching as a UNE, in order to be able to deliver service at the same level of quality.

Therefore, AT&T recommended that the SGAT Section 9.20.2.1.2 copper loop condition be changed as follows:¹¹⁰

There are no-insufficient copper loops available capable of adequately supporting the xDSL services the requesting carrier seeks to offer.

The term "insufficient" would address circumstances where there are some, but not enough, spare copper loops to support a CLEC's general business offering of DSL to a neighborhood. The term "adequately" would presumably address the comparability of data transfer rates issue.

Qwest objected to these changes, noting that the SGAT's recitation of the condition followed the FCC's wording and that AT&T's wording would extend Qwest's obligation beyond what the FCC has required. Qwest cited as support for this "no new obligations" standard FCC decisions in other Section 271 proceedings.¹¹¹ Owest also argued that the term "adequately" introduces vagueness to an otherwise clear standard - a standard that unambiguously provides that the condition is met where the available copper loops are not "capable of supporting the xDSL services the CLEC chooses to offer." Qwest also argued that the term "insufficient" also introduces vagueness into what should be a customer-by-customer analysis of availability. Qwest also noted that this issue is likely to be without much practical significance, given the need of Owest to have remotely deployed DSLAMs, which is another condition that must be met. Owest said that it would only have remotely deployed its DSLAMs where the available loops will not support xDSL service; therefore, if this other condition has been met, so too will the available copper loop condition, in all probability. 112

¹⁰⁹ AT&T Comments at page 48.

¹¹⁰ AT&T Brief at page 12.

¹¹¹ Qwest Brief at pages 3 and 4.

¹¹² Owest Brief at pages 5 and 6.

Proposed Issue Resolution: As a threshold matter, Qwest inappropriately seeks to extend the FCC's standard for its own review of Section 271 applications in a way that would make it in effect a limit on state consideration of any issue where the FCC has failed to adopt its own rule or guideline. This argument certainly finds no support in the cited FCC language, which merely says that the FCC will not use its own authority to address itself issues of general significance on which the FCC either has not spoken or has not gone as far as some CLECs wish. Nothing in the language cited by Qwest would support the proposition that states must limit themselves to the precise boundaries set out by the FCC in its orders. The applicable standard under the Act and FCC rules and orders is not in precise conformity with FCC rulings. States may not speak where the FCC has appropriately precluded additional or different state requirements; otherwise, their contribution to the development of competitive markets in their jurisdictions is presumably welcome and certainly proper.

Therefore, we revert to the question of whether Qwest may exclude access to packet switching as a UNE where either of the two conditions exists:

- The spare loops are so bng that they will not support data transfer rates at speeds Qwest can offer to the same end users that CLECs would have to serve over such home run loops (the "adequacy" issue)
- There are some spare copper loops in a neighborhood, but not enough to support CLEC efforts to serve there (the "sufficiency" issue).

Qwest's argument that the term "adequacy" would introduce vagueness is correct. The SGAT already says that the test for determining necessary loop capability is not some pre-defined technical standard or data transfer rate, but the services that the CLEC wishes to offer (which include that transfer rate). If a CLEC should wish to offer xDSL services that match all the characteristics of the service that Qwest is providing, then Qwest cannot meet its obligations by providing a copper loop that can only provide a level of service less than that, even if the loop could provide some defined level of DSL service. Moreover, if Qwest is actually providing xDSL service at a level higher than what it guarantees as part of its retail offerings, then the home-run copper loop that Qwest makes available to a CLEC must support the higher actual service level, not merely the level that Qwest guarantees to its end users.

Because the SGAT already provides that copper bops must support services that are at parity if that is what a CLEC requests, and because the ability to deliver service at parity is what AT&T sought, there is no need to alter the SGAT to give CLECs adequate protection.

AT&T's sufficiency argument does not have merit. The FCC has made it clear that where copper loops are available and sufficient (as defined immediately above), providing them constitutes full satisfaction of Qwest's requirements. Moreover, AT&T has presented no evidence to support a conclusion that satisfaction of its actual orders for services needs through a combination of copper loops and unbundled packet switching is discriminatory, or that it would impede CLEC ability to compete for customers. AT&T's addition of sufficiency also would change the basis for determining copper loop availability from the number of orders (or end users) involved to the number that AT&T would like to serve, assuming, one would imagine, that its marketing plans succeeded. Giving CLECs the ability to alter Qwest's obligations on the basis of expectations

(i.e., the customers that AT&T "seeks" to serve) as opposed to firm orders for facility access could have the effect of eviscerating the FCC's conditions. The problem is exacerbated where CLECs can self-define those expectations. It is preferable to address orders as they come, filling them first from available copper loops (assuming that those loops will support the parity of service that AT&T sought), particularly given the complete lack of evidence to support a conclusion that doing so will impose any unfair or otherwise inappropriate burdens on CLECs.

2. Denial of DSLAM Collocation

The ability to collocate CLEC DSLAMs at remote Qwest terminals should help to overcome the problem of a lack of suitable "home run" copper loops. However, AT&T objected to Qwest's contention that the ability to collocate DSLAMs would not be a significant problem. AT&T predicted that collocating its DSLAMs would not prove to be a commonly available solution. AT&T cited the need for a concurrence of too many circumstances to make this alternative commonly available. However, AT&T cited the need for a concurrence of too many circumstances to make this alternative commonly available.

- A location that would accommodate physical or virtual collocation of the CLEC DSLAM
- Power, heating, ventilation, and air conditioning to operate equipment
- Enough copper pairs downstream to reach enough customers to use the DSLAM at an economically viable portion of its capability
- Sufficient facilities upstream with enough bandwidth to connect to the CLEC's data network.

AT&T commented that remote terminals and other Qwest field locations where CLECs could remotely deploy DSLAMS serve only limited numbers of customers; therefore, CLECs would have great difficulty in gaining the economies of scale necessary to justify such deployment. Therefore, AT&T sought a change in SGAT Section 9.20.2.1.3, in order to expand the standard from actual denial of collocation by Qwest to economic infeasibility of CLEC DSLAM collocation. AT&T argued that the significant costs and lead time (due to right of way acquisition and installation) and the small numbers of customers to be served from such DSLAMs would make it "extremely difficult" for CLECs to make enough money to justify deployment of their own facilities. AT&T argued that Qwest can gain adequate economies of scale by deploying DLC and DSLAMs, because Qwest does so to "serve most of or the entire base of customers assigned to the remote terminal," whether or not they take advanced services. CLECs, however, would not be likely to capture enough customers for advanced services alone to make support the costs of remotely deployed DSLAMs. 117 Rhythms similarly argued that the economics of DSLAM collocation would make that option ineffective for CLECs.

AT&T recommended changing SGAT Section 9.20.2.1.3 as follows:

¹¹³ It proved impossible not to digress long enough to note that getting a home run here puts one at a disadvantage; however, this is undoubtedly not the greatest irony induced by efforts to make CLECs and ILECs partners in delivering local exchange service to end users.

¹¹⁴ AT&T Comments at pages 49 through 51.

AT&T Comments at page 53.

¹¹⁶ AT& T Brief at page 13.

¹¹⁷ AT&T Brief at page 13.

Owest has placed a DSLAM for its own use in a remote Owest Premises but: (i) Owest has not permitted CLEC to collocate its own DSLAM at the same remote Qwest Premises, or (ii) from CLEC's perspective it would be uneconomical for CLEC to collocate its own DSLAM at the same Qwest Premises, or (iii) collocating a CLEC's DSLAM at the same Qwest Premises will not be capable of supporting xDSL service at parity with the service that can be offered through Qwest's Unbundled Packet Switching.

Owest argued that AT&T and Rhythms provided no evidentiary support for their argument about economics, and that, in any case, their request exceeded the scope of these workshops by asking for the introduction of new obligations. Owest also argued that Iowa Utilities Board, 119 S.Ct. 721 (1999), requires the imposition of more than nominal added costs to meet the impairment of competition test for unbundling. 118

Proposed Issue Resolution: As an initial matter, AT&T's language solution substantially overreaches even its own definition of the problem. It does so by making a CLEC's own and not unbiased perspective on economics the basis for deciding whether the FCC's established conditions for the unbundling of packet switching should be overridden. However, even language that left the decision to an objective standard or decision maker would still depend upon an assumption that there is a substantial difference in the economics of DLSAM deployment between CLECs and Qwest. Apart from broad claims that were not supported by any specific analysis or quantification, there is nothing in the record to support this assumption. The failure to support those claims with evidence is particularly compelling in a case where, as here, a number of CLECs want to add an entirely new requirement to those already deemed appropriate by the FCC. In fact, much more than an addition to the FCC requirements is anticipated; the request is to replace an operational condition with an economic one, which would serve to redefine the applicable FCC standard entirely.

It is difficult to imagine that the FCC has utterly failed to consider any relevant economic considerations. Certainly, we should not here consider them without at least a substantial showing that there are significant economic differences in CLEC versus Qwest deployment. Nothing prevented the participants from discovery and testimony that would specifically address such economic differences. The failure to provide any level of quantification of that difference is material, given the *Iowa Utilities Board* standard for economic impairment.

There is simply no sound basis for deciding that the FCC conditions regarding DSLAM collocation should be supplemented by the addition of an economic feasibility test.

3. ICB Pricing

AT&T commented that Qwest has presented no testimony about its prices or provisioning practices for unbundled packet switching. AT&T argued that it was not sufficient to offer ICB pricing. 119 AT&T cited the Louisiana II order as authority for the proposition that checklist compliance may be denied for failure to specify any price at all for an element, noting as well that true up commitments are not sufficient where no pricing method has been established.

¹¹⁸ Owest Brief at pages 6 and 7.

¹¹⁹ AT&T Comments at page 56.

Therefore, AT&T argued that Qwest must at least insert specific prices, not merely ICB pricing, into the SGAT. 120

Qwest's brief noted that the company is currently developing packet switching prices, which it believes it will have established before it makes its Section 271 filing with the FCC. In any event, Qwest argued that its ICB approach would be an adequate interim solution for purposes of Section 271.¹²¹

Proposed Issue Resolution: Neither Qwest nor the CLEC participants to these workshops has anticipated that cost and price issues would be addressed in cases where recourse to detailed cost studies and analysis would be necessary. There is, quite simply, no evidence of record to warrant a conclusion that price methods, other than ICBs, can now be supported. It is fairly clear that Qwest agrees conceptually that ICB pricing will not remain the general rule after it completes its pending price development effort. It would prove to be of substantial benefit to complete that effort in time for state commission review as soon as possible. However, there is presently no basis for anticipating what that review will produce. From the state perspective, ICB pricing subject to eventual true up is the only currently feasible approach.

4. *Unbundling Conditions as a Prerequisite to Ordering*

AT&T argued that CLECs would suffer competitive disadvantage under SGAT Section 9.20.4.1. That section would require the 90-day collocation process, after which the CLEC would learn that collocation had been denied. Then, only after that denial, would the CLEC be able to order packet switching as a UNE. AT&T argued that this long interval would allow Qwest to market its own advanced services, and to provide them on a timelier basis. Therefore, AT&T sought a change that would permit:¹²²

- Simultaneous processing of DSLAM collocation and packet switching UNE requests
- An interval of 10 days or less for Qwest to reject DSLAM collocation requests.

Qwest interpreted this request as contrary to the FCC's packet switch unbundling Rule 319(c)(3)(B), and as a request to ask the participating states to go beyond what the FCC has required. 123 Qwest noted that it did agreed to streamline the processes involved in unbundling packet switching by:

- Disclosing to CLECs the locations where Qwest has remotely deployed DSLAMs
- Providing a space availability report indicating where there is not space at such locations
- Providing, on CLEC request, a list of locations where Qwest has made decisions to remotely deploy future DSLAMs

Qwest argued that these measures were sufficient to mitigate the timing disparity claimed to exist between Qwest and CLEC ability to provide the services at issue.¹²⁴

121 Qwest Brief at page 16.

¹²⁰ AT&T Brief at page 20.

¹²² AT&T Brief at pages 21 and 22.

¹²³ Qwest Brief at page 9.

¹²⁴ Qwest Brief at page 11.

Proposed Issue Resolution: The central aspect of AT&T's concern appeared to be the risk that 90 days would pass before a CLEC would learn that it could not collocate its DSLAMs. However, the combination of Qwest's disclosures about its current and future DSLAM locations and the issuance of space availability reports should provide substantially faster notice that AT&T had anticipated. Thus, the introduction of a 10-day collocation denial notice period does not appear to be warranted. However, no evidence or argument was presented to show any necessity for packet switching service requests to await DSLAM collocation denials. Because imposing a sequential ordering requirement can extend the date when CLECs can make service available, and because there is no demonstrated support for the requirement, the SGAT should make clear that Qwest should be required to respond to DSLAM collocation orders and packet switching orders in parallel.

5. Line Card "Plug and Play"

Sprint argued for the right to allow CLECs to place their line cards into Qwest's DSLAM (an option known as "plug and play"). Sprint also argued that CLECs should not be limited to the option of extraordinarily long copper loops where Qwest does not have to rely upon "an all-copper solution" and therefore has access that is better suited to providing DSL services. The problem with home run copper loops was addressed earlier under the *Availability of Spare Copper Loops* issue. Specifically, Sprint argued that it should have access to the plug and play option where Qwest uses "next generation" DLC, where line cards will provide the functionality of the splitter and the DSLAM. Sprint noted that this option would obviate the need for the "crushing expense of adjacent collocation at remote terminals."

Rhythms and New Edge also commented that Qwest should be required to permit CLECs to place their line cards into Qwest's remotely deployed terminals. The comments asserted that the option should be required because CLECs "would be impaired in providing line-sharing to end users." The comments noted that this scenario would require CLECs to obtain from Qwest a loop from the customer NID to the customer side of Qwest's remote terminal, electronics at the remote terminal, and transport from the other side of the terminal back to the central office.¹²⁷

Qwest opposed the plug and play option, arguing that:¹²⁸

- The FCC is now considering the issue, but has yet to conclude whether it is appropriate; Section 271 proceedings are not an appropriate forum for imposing new obligations
- The record here does not address the technical feasibility of this option
- Plug and play requires the functionality of the DSLAM to be effective; therefore, allowing it at would be tantamount to eliminating the four conditions that the FCC said were appropriate prerequisites to unbundling packet switching.

Proposed Issue Resolution: The CLEC concern about extraordinarily long copper loops was addressed under the issue heading of *Availability of Spare Copper Loops* above. That resolution

126 Sprint Brief at page 5.

¹²⁵ Sprint Brief at page 3.

¹²⁷ Comments of Rhythms and New Edge at pages 10 and 11.

¹²⁸ Qwest Brief at pages 12 through 15.

mitigates here any claim of need, whatever its merits might otherwise be. Moreover, as Qwest notes, the technical feasibility of this option is now being addressed at the FCC. Particularly given the pendency of the FCC proceedings, there is insufficient evidence on this record to support the conclusion that technical feasibility has been established.

Finally, as Qwest also noted, allowing the plug and play option would in effect eviscerate the current FCC standard. Absent substantial evidence to support a conclusion that CLECs would generally be denied a meaningful opportunity to compete, unless that standard is fully rewritten, there is no basis for criticizing the general reliance that Qwest places upon it in the development of its SGAT. There has been, as noted above, an almost complete lack of tangible evidence addressing the degree of inherent "diseconomy" CLECs would face if the FCC rule were to stand largely intact. We have only conclusory statements from those who would benefit from the change that is at issue.

VII. Dark Fiber

Background - Dark Fiber

Paragraph 174 of the *UNE Remand Order* provides that the loop element includes dark fiber. The FCC defined dark fiber as fiber that has not been activated by connection to electronics, but that is nevertheless "in place and easily called into service." The FCC analogized such dark fiber to vacant copper wire that is ready for service when required. Paragraph 325 of that FCC order similarly treats the dedicated transport element as including fiber that is in place, but that is unlit by electronics. Thus, the FCC has decided that the loop and transport elements to which CLECs can gain access may consist of dark fiber.

Issues Resolved During This Workshop – Dark Fiber

1. Dark Fiber Forecasts

AT&T expressed concern with the language contained in SGAT Section 9.7.2.2. AT&T suggested that language be added to permit a CLEC to submit a nonbonding, good-faith forecast of dark fiber to Qwest. Qwest expressed concern that it would be required to build to the forecasts. Qwest has removed the language for SGAT Section 9.7.2.2 with no objection from AT&T in its brief. This issue can be considered closed.

2. Access to Dark Fiber Without Collocation

WCOM requested that Qwest modify its SGAT language to permit access to Dark Fiber without collocation in a Qwest central office. Qwest proposed to amend SGAT Section 9.7.2.12 as follows:

CLEC must have established Collocation or other technically feasible means of network demarcation pursuant to section 9.1.4 of this Agreement at both terminating points of the UDF-IOF or at the Serving Wire Center of either the UDF-Loop or the E-UDF unless loop and transport combinations are ordered. Qwest will provide fiber cross connects at the serving Wire Center to connect UDF-Loop or E-UDF with UDF-IOF if such are ordered in combination. No Collocation is required in intermediate Central Offices within a UDF or at Central Offices where CLEC's UDFs are cross connected. CLEC has no access to UDF at those intermediate Central Offices.

AT&T, Sprint, and other CLECs did not object to Qwest's proposed language. This issue can be considered closed.

¹²⁹ AT&T Comments at page 4.

¹³⁰ Stewart Direct page 3.

3. Testing

CLECs expressed concern that the SGAT would require a CLEC to call repair personnel directly when there arose at the time of installation a problem with dark fiber. Qwest responded by proposing to conduct continuity testing with the CLEC. The proposed testing would be performed jointly with the CLEC on the "Plant Test Date." The continuity test would allow the CLEC to test whether the fiber was working prior to the "Due Date." To incorporate this change, Qwest proposed to modify the SGAT Sections 9.7.2.17 and 9.7.2.17.1. There was no objection to the proposed change, which is generally responsive to the concerns raised. Therefore, this issue can be considered closed.

4. Addition of E-UDF rate elements.

AT&T requested SGAT language for an EUDF rate element and a more general review of dark fiber rate elements. Qwest proposed revisions to Section 9.7.5 to address AT&T's concern. AT&T did not raise it as an unresolved issue in its brief. Therefore, this issue can be considered closed.

5. Purchase of a Single Dark Fiber Strand

A number of CLECs requested the ability to purchase a single strand of dark fiber. In the Colorado workshop Qwest proposed to modify SGAT Section 9.7.2.4 as follows:

Qwest will provide Unbundled Dark Fiber to CLEC in increments of two (2) strands (by the pair). In addition, after May 31, 2001, Qwest will provide Unbundled Dark Fiber to CLEC in increments of one (1) strand. CLEC may obtain up to twenty five percent (25%) of available dark fibers or four (4) dark fiber strands, whichever is greater, in each fiber cable segment over a twelve (12) month period. Before CLEC may order additional UDF on such fiber cable segment, CLEC must demonstrate efficient use of existing fiber in each cable segment. Efficient use of interoffice cable segments is defined as providing a minimum of OC-12 termination on each fiber pair. Efficient use of loop fiber is defined as providing a minimum of OC-3 termination on each fiber pair. Efficient use of E-UDF is defined as providing a minimum of OC-3 termination on each fiber pair. CLEC may designate 5% of its fibers along a fiber cable segment, or 2 strands, whichever is greater, for maintenance spare, which fibers or strands are not subject to the termination requirements in this paragraph.

In addition, Qwest indicated that it intended to modify the Dark Fiber Inquiry form and internal procedures to incorporate this change by May 31, 2001. The SGAT for the multistate proceeding was also modified to reflect the Qwest's proposed language.

AT&T, Sprint, and other CLECs did not object to the proposed wording of the SGAT in their brief. However, AT&T did identify another technical publication in which Qwest had committed to modifying it as necessary to be consistent with the SGAT but had not completed the task as committed. AT&T identified it as an unresolved issue.

•

¹³¹ Stewart Direct at page 6.

¹³² Karen Stewart Affidavit for Colorado Workshop, page 4

¹³³ Karen Stewart Affidavit for Colorado Workshop, page 4

6. Provisioning and Ordering Processes

AT&T expressed concern with the SGAT Section 9.7.3.2 provisions that address the processes for provisioning and ordering of dark fiber. AT&T requested that Qwest provide CLECs with more specific outlines of these processes.¹³⁴ Qwest modified Section 9.7.3.2 of the SGAT. AT&T did not raise any objection in its brief. Therefore, this issue can be considered closed.

7. Dark Fiber at Collocation Build-Out Completion

CLECs questioned whether dark fiber would be available when collocation build outs were completed. Qwest indicated that it believed that the most effective option to address this concern was to allow CLECs to "reserve" dark fiber. Qwest also deleted the requirement for a CLEC to enter into an Interconnection Agreement before dark fiber could be reserved. Qwest proposed to modify SGAT Section 9.7.3.5 as follows:

CLEC may reserve dark fiber for CLEC during Collocation builds. Prior to reserving space, CLEC must place an inquiry pursuant to section 9.7.3.1 of this Agreement and receive a UDF Inquiry Response that reflects that the route to be reserved is available. CLEC is also strongly encouraged to request a Field Verification that the route to be reserved is available. If CLEC does not obtain Field Verification, CLEC assumes the risk that records upon which the UDF Inquiry Response is based may be in error. CLEC may reserve UDF for thirty (30), sixty (60), or ninety (90) days. CLEC may extend or renew reservations if there is delay in completion of the Collocation build. All applicable UDF recurring charges specified in sections 9.7.5.2 will be assessed at the commencement of the reservation.

There was no objection to the changed language, which generally addressed the concerns raised. Therefore, this issue can be considered closed.

8. Cross Connect Charges

AT&T requested that Qwest confirm that the non-recurring cross connect charges would not apply if the cross connection was already in place when a CLEC placed a UDF order. AT&T's reasoning was that the non-recurring charge covered the cost of performing the cross-connect work.

Qwest modified SGAT Sections 9.7.5.2.1(c), 9.7.5.2.2(c), and 9.7.5.3(c) to reflect that cross-connection non-recurring charges would not apply where the cross connection is already in place at the time the CLEC placed a UDF order. Qwest indicated that it would continue the recurring charges that are intended to recover the cost of having a cross connection in place.

There was no objection to the changed language, which generally addressed the concerns raised. Therefore, this issue can be considered closed.

¹³⁴ AT&T Comments at page 6.

¹³⁵ Karen Stewart Affidavit for Colorado Workshop, page 2

Issues Remaining in Dispute - Dark Fiber

1. Affiliate Obligations to Provide Access to Dark Fiber

AT&T contended that Sections 251(c)(3) and 252(d)(1) of the Act obligate Qwest to make the in-region dark fiber of affiliates, specifically Qwest Communications International, Inc ("QCI"), available to CLECs. AT&T argued that Section 251(c)(3) obligates ILECs to provide non-discriminatory access to network elements on an unbundled basis at any technically feasible point, and under rates and conditions that are fair, just, and reasonable. According to AT&T, Qwest and its affiliates comprise "successors and assigns" under Section 251(h) of the Act, which makes them subject to ILEC unbundling duties thereunder. 136

AT&T asserted that the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia in an SBC/Ameritech merger approval interpreted "successor and assigns" broadly enough to include the affiliates of the ILEC that provide telecommunication services. In addition, AT&T cited the circuit court's rejection of the FCC conclusion in the SBC/Ameritech Merger Order that the "advance services affiliate" was not such a "successor and assign" as long as it complied with various structural and traditional safeguards. The Court said:

[T]he Commission is using language designed by Congress as an added limitation on an ILEC's ability to offer telecommunications services as a statutory device to ameliorate §251(c)'s restriction. We do not think that in the absence of the successor and assign limitation an ILEC would be permitted to circumvent § 251(c)'s obligations merely by setting up an affiliate to offer telecommunications services. The Commission is thus using the successor and assign limitation as a form of legal jujitsu to justify its relations of §251's restrictions. 137

AT&T recognized that this decision addressed advanced-service affiliates, but argued that a failure to require QCI and its affiliates to be subject to unbundling would permit Qwest to avoid the requirements of §251 by offering and investing in network infrastructure through its wholly owned subsidiaries. AT&T therefore recommended that Qwest be required to add language to the SGAT that clarifying that QCI and its affiliates are obligated to unbundle the in-region facilities of Qwest's affiliates.

In response, Qwest contended that Qwest Corporation is the only US WEST Communications Inc. successor that provides local telecommunications services in the seven-state region. Qwest argued that the QCI affiliates have neither provided, nor have they acquired, any affiliate that provides local exchange service. Further, according to Qwest, QCI's affiliates do not meet the "successor or assign" requirements of §251(h) of the Act. Qwest contended that the FCC has ruled that a "successor" for the purposes of §251(h) of the Act occurs if there is a substantial enough continuity between the companies to allow a conclusion that one entity has stepped into the shoes of or replaced another. Qwest asserted that only Qwest among QCI's affiliates meets this requirement.

¹³⁶ AT&T Brief at pages 30 and 31.

¹³⁷ AT&T Brief at page 31.

¹³⁸ Qwest Brief at page 4.

Qwest continued by arguing that the terms of §251(c) apply only to ILECs. Qwest contended that the Act specifically defines ILECs as local exchange carriers that meet certain specified conditions (e.g. a person or entity that, on after such date... became a "successor or assign" of a member of NECA). Qwest asserted that the FCC has ruled that, "a BOC affiliate should not be deemed an incumbent LEC subject to the requirements of section 251(c) solely because it offers local exchange service; rather, section 251(1) applies only to entities that meet the definition of an incumbent LEC under section 251(h)," in particular that section's "successor or assign" test. ¹³⁹

Qwest also argued that section 251(c) does not extend to an ILEC's long-distance operations or network. In particular, Qwest contended that the FCC in its *Advance Services Remand Order*, found no merit to requiring GTE and Sprint to unbundle their long distance networks.¹⁴⁰ Qwest asserted that, in a later appeal (still pending), the FCC asserted that the unbundling of an ILECs' affiliated networks would not serve the "underlying goal" of sections 251 and 252. Qwest pointed out that AT&T filed a brief in that proceeding supporting the FCC's position that the obligations of sections 251 and 252 are specifically directed to an incumbent's local service networks, in apparent contradiction to the position taken in this proceeding.¹⁴¹ Qwest concluded by stating that its affiliates are providing operator and long distance services; therefore, any dark fiber held by them would be a part of a long distance facility, which is exempt from unbundling.

Proposed Issue Resolution: AT&T's argument depends principally upon the notion that Qwest cannot deny the applicability of the "successor and assign" provision of Section 251(h) on the grounds that QCI and its affiliates were not providing local service on the date the Act was enacted. However, AT&T does not confront the issues raised by the fact that they are not doing so now either, except through Qwest. The relevance of what affiliates do, with respect to providing telecommunications services is clear, even accepting AT&T's reading of the FCC's conclusion in the Qwest merger proceeding and in the D.C. Circuit opinion in the ASCENT case. In both circumstances, the issue was the use of an affiliate to bypass the obligations imposed on an ILEC under the Act.

The record here contains no evidence that the Qwest corporate structure has been developed or is being used to deny access to dark fiber in cases where it would, absent such structure, be required to be made available. In fact, AT&T has not grounded its argument at all on such a plan or scheme, choosing instead to rely upon the cases cited to support an obligation of all Qwest affiliates to unbundle generally, exactly as if they were Qwest itself. AT&T has cited no authority for such a proposition, nor is its propriety evident. Its application would eradicate for ILECs any distinction in lines of business, treating a non-ILEC as if it were an ILEC, apparently on the sole basis of its having affiliation with and some of the same kinds of facilities that ILECs use to provide local service. The notion that Congress envisioned such an interpretation is nowhere evident in the Act, nor is it even consistent with general utility regulatory principles, which allow for utilities to separate regulated and nonregulated operations (if done properly) without making them equally subject to regulation.

1

¹³⁹ Owest Brief at pages 6 and 7.

¹⁴⁰ Qwest Brief at page 7.

¹⁴¹ Qwest Brief at page 8.

Thus, there is no basis in the record for requiring dark fiber or other unbundling by affiliates because they are successors and assigns. However, it should be noted that this conclusion is not a blanket one applicable no matter what activities Qwest and its affiliates decide to undertake in concert. The cases cited by AT&T clearly do indicate that scrutiny is appropriate where there is a claim that corporate separation is being used to reduce the obligations of an ILEC from what they would otherwise be.

Interestingly, however, that claim, not made or supported by any evidence here, is not likely to ever be particularly material in the particular case at hand, which is dark fiber. The reason is that, where an affiliate is making access to such fiber routinely available to an ILEC affiliate, it can be concluded that such fiber constitutes part of the ILEC's facilities generally and already subject to unbundling.

The particularly interesting feature of dark fiber in this situation is that it represents a form of inplace inventory. By definition, it is currently not being used, but represents capacity that can generally be called to use in short order. If an ILEC decided, for example, to acquire a general right to use such fiber from a third party when and as needed, Qwest certainly could not deny similar access to a CLEC merely on the basis that the inventory was technically owned by a third party. The issue would be Qwest's rights and ability to get access to it. Certainly it would be inconceivable to imagine that a switch to third party sale/leasebacks of all types of network facilities would defeat CLEC access to them.

The same general standard should apply to a second-party arrangement (i.e., a lease or right-to-use agreement with an affiliate) as would apply to a third-party arrangement (e.g., Qwest rights to dark fiber that arise under a lease with a financial institution or under a right of use agreement with a customer). That standard should be that if Qwest has access rights for itself, it should not refuse to use them to provide access rights for CLECs.

The difficulty in applying such a standard to the second-party situation lies in the different ways that such access-rights agreements are likely to be recorded. Third-party arrangements of this type would be likely to be of a significant enough economic size to warrant formal agreements and clear and complete records. One should not expect otherwise for arrangements of consequence between parties who do not broadly share the same objectives and goals. The same is not true for second-party arrangements, where commonality of purpose, goals, and interests in net results can be expected to lead often to less formal arrangements. Thus, the application of the standard envisioned here needs to recognize that second-party arrangements are likely to be less formal or structured.

Accordingly, Qwest should be required to provide access not only to what it owns directly, but to all dark fiber to which it has a right to access for local telecommunications use under agreements with any other party, affiliated or not. Moreover, the test should not be the type of form of such agreement, but rather the nature and degree of the access that it provides to Qwest. The addition of the following language to the end of SGAT Section 9.7.1 will accomplish this result:

Deployed Dark Fiber facilities shall not be limited to facilities owned by Qwest, but will include in place and easily called into service facilities to which Qwest

has otherwise obtained a right of access, including but not limited to capitalized Indefeasible Right to Use (IRUs) or capitalized leases. Qwest shall not be required to extend access in a manner that is inconsistent with the restrictions and other terms and conditions that apply to Qwest's access; however, in the case of access obtained from an affiliate: (a) the actual practice and custom as between Qwest and the affiliate shall apply in the event that it provides broader access than does any documented agreement that may exist, and (b) any terms restricting access by CLECs that are imposed by the agreement with the affiliate (excluding good-faith restrictions imposed by any agreement with a third party from whom the affiliate has gained rights of access) shall not be applied to restrict CLEC access.

2. Access to Dark Fiber in Joint Build Arrangements

AT&T contended that the Act and the FCC Orders call for the conclusion that CLECs should be permitted to lease dark fiber that exists in "joint build arrangements" with third parties. Such arrangements, according to AT&T, comprise those that permit either Qwest, the third party, or both to use the other party's conduit, innerduct, or fiber to transport telecommunications traffic. Qwest testified that it would make available dark fiber in joint build arrangements up to Qwest's side of the meet point. Qwest refused to permit CLECs to obtain access to any rights Qwest may have to the use of the "third party facilities." ¹⁴²

AT&T contended that Section 251(c) and 47 C.F.R. §§51.307 and 309 require Qwest to provide nondiscriminatory access to poles, ducts, and right of way. According to AT&T, to the extent that joint build arrangements may give Qwest control of facilities or a right of way on a third party's network, Qwest should be obligated to give the CLEC the same access. AT&T said that, without access to third-party facilities, CLECs would be unable to compete in communities where joint build arrangements exist. AT&T asserted that Qwest must demonstrate that it is providing nondiscriminatory access to its poles, ducts, and right-of-ways at just and reasonable rate, terms and conditions.

Qwest stated it willingness to unbundle dark fiber that it owns. Qwest contended that it cannot and would not unbundle dark fiber belonging to other entities. Qwest also argued that AT&T failed to provide a legal justification for how Qwest could unbundle an asset of a third party.

Proposed Issue Resolution: The standard to which Qwest should be held here is similar to that set forth in the proposed resolution of the immediately preceding issue. It has nothing to do with the fiber ownership criterion that Qwest would apply.

The primary consideration is whether the agreement with the third party gives Qwest, with respect to the fiber owned by the third party, sufficient access rights to make it analogous to facilities that "carriers keep dormant but ready for service" and that are "in place and easily called into service." These are the key tests that the FCC applies in defining dark fiber to which

¹⁴² February 27, 2001 transcript at page 233.

¹⁴³ AT&T Brief at pages 32 and 33.

¹⁴⁴ Qwest Brief at page 9.

CLECs are entitled.¹⁴⁵ The language set forth in the proposed resolution of the immediately preceding issue accommodates this definition.

The secondary consideration is whether Qwest will have acted in good faith with respect to the imposition of any limits on its ability to make available to CLECs the Owest fiber access rights obtained from the third party. There will certainly be cases where Qwest cannot enter agreements that it needs with third parties, except where Owest is willing to restrict access rights to its own use. However, it should not be presumed that this will always be the case; where it is not, Owest should not have the ability to "tie its own hands" in a manner that, while unlikely to hurt Qwest at all, may later become an undue constraint on competition. Owest may be forced to deal with insistent third parties on terms that are not friendly to future competition, but it should not benefit from its own failure to accommodate future CLEC access. The "good faith" provision of the language recommended to resolve the immediately preceding dispute accomplishes this goal.

Applying a Local Exchange Usage Requirement to Dark Fiber

AT&T objected to the SGAT Section 9.7.2.9 application of the local usage test that the FCC issued with regard to Enhanced Extended Links ("EELs"). AT&T argued that the usage test when applied to dark fiber is prohibited by the FCC's UNE Remand Order and the FCC's rules. AT&T contended that 47 C.F.R. §51.309(b) explicitly provides for CLEC access to all unbundled elements unless the FCC provides an exception. 146 To support its position AT&T quoted 47 C.F.R. §51.309(b):

A telecommunications carrier purchasing access to an unbundled network element may use such network element to provide exchange access services to itself in order to provide interexchange services to subscribers.

Finally, AT&T asserted that the requirement could not be implemented, because the FCC test cannot be applied to dark fiber. AT&T concluded that Qwest should be required to remove Section 9.7.2.9 from the SGAT.

Owest responded that EELs comprise combinations of the loop UNE and the transport UNE. Owest said that dark fiber is not a UNE per se, but rather "a flavor of loop and transport," like EELs, which are a combination of loop and transport under paragraphs 477 and 480 of the UNE Remand Order. Therefore, according to Qwest, the local traffic exchange restriction should be applied to dark fiber loop and transport combinations. ¹⁴⁷ Owest said that the FCC imposed the restriction to prevent unbundling requirements from interfering with access charge and universal service reform. Owest argued that eliminating the local service restriction on dark fiber and transport unbundling would present a threat to access revenues and universal service. 148 Qwest asserted that SGAT Section 9.7.2.9 is proper under the FCC's Supplemental Order Clarification and should be maintained.

¹⁴⁵ UNE Remand Order at ¶ 174 for loops; a similar definition for transport is set forth at \P 325.

¹⁴⁶ AT&T Brief at page 36.

Owest Brief at page 10.

¹⁴⁸ Owest Brief at page 10.

Proposed Issue Resolution: Paragraph 174 of the *UNE Remand Order* says that the loop element can consist of dark fiber. Paragraph 325 says that the transport element can consist of dark fiber. Paragraph 480 says that EELs are not a separate UNE, but consist of "an unbundled loop" that "is connected to unbundled dedicated transport." Thus, when a CLEC secures access to dark fiber that provides the functionality of a loop that is connected to dedicated transport, it secures an EEL, which is a combined loop and transport element. That dark fiber makes up this combination does not give it a different identity as a UNE.

The FCC has said that:149

IXCs may not substitute an incumbent LEC's unbundled loop-transport combinations for special access services unless they provide a significant amount of local exchange service, in addition to exchange access service, to a particular customer.

There is no doubt that a loop-transport combination that includes dark fiber remains a loop-transport combination. The logic behind the FCC's concern about access charges is in no way diminished because the facilities providing the combination were unlit before a CLEC gained access to them. The fact that access charges associated with many users might be avoided (instead of the one contemplated in the preceding quote) hardly serves to lessen the concern. Increased measurement difficulty (which, moreover, was an issue first raised in AT&T's brief, and not supported by any evidence) does not call for elimination of the rule in those cases where the harm it seeks to avoid is the greatest. Therefore, AT&T's argument is without foundation.

4. Consistency With Technical Publications

AT&T noted that SGAT Section 9.7.2.18 incorporated by reference Technical Publication 77383. AT&T determined that the publication's terms were inconsistent with the commitments Qwest has made in the language of the SGAT. According to AT&T, Qwest promised to provide a draft of the modifications to language that made it compliant with the SGAT by March 1, 2001. AT&T indicated that Qwest failed to provide the required language. Therefore, AT&T proposed that, until Qwest submits language for the publication conforming to the requirements of the SGAT on dark fiber, the Commission should find Qwest not in compliance with this section of the 271 requirements. ¹⁵⁰

Qwest in its brief did not identify Section 9.7.2.18 as in dispute.

Proposed Issue Resolution: This issue can be addressed, if the parties have not already resolved it by then, in the upcoming workshop on general SGAT terms and conditions. We have already adopted the general proposition that the hierarchy among the SGAT, technical publications, operations guidelines and procedures, and the other documents that it will take to make the Qwest/CLEC relationship operate effectively can best be addressed in a general fashion. To the extent that any participant still considers this issue to require special treatment then, it may be raised at that time.

¹⁴⁹ Supplemental Order Clarification, In the Matter of Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, CC Docket No. 96-98, FCC 00-183 (rel. June 2, 2000) ¶8.

¹⁵⁰AT&T Brief at pages 34 and 35.